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Dear Shareholders,

We hereby submit for your attention the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2020, which
present a loss for the year for the Group headed by Mooney Group S.p.A. (hereinafter the “Parent” or
the “Company”) of Euro 30,715 thousand.
In the same year, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and amortization of intangible assets
were recorded for Euro 41,682 thousand and the value of revenues and income totaled Euro 311,948
thousand. The income statement is also impacted by net finance expenses for Euro 52.691 thousand.

Key data
The results for 2020 are presented in the following table (figures in Euro thousand). The table also
includes “Adjusted” profitability indicators, which exclude the effects of non-recurring extraordinary
expenses of approximately Euro 22.3 million, mostly associated with company reorganization and
acquisition costs, as well as with corporate charges for the reorganization and launch of new products
carried out by the Group during the year. Furthermore, with regard to EBITDA, which is not specifically
presented in the Group’s financial statements, this is defined as profit (or loss) for the year/period
adjusted for: amortization, depreciation, impairment losses, provisions and reversals of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, finance income and similar, finance expenses and similar, and
income taxes.
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Synthetic Income Statement

2020

2019

Var.

311,948

13,858

298,090

EBITDA

59,388

1,314

58,074

Adjusted EBITDA

81,659

2,802

78,857

Operating profit/loss (EBIT)

13,244

(388)

13,632

Adjusted Operating profit/loss (Adj. EBIT)

35,515

1,100

34,415

Profit (loss) before income taxes

(39,447)

(2,207)

(37,240)

Profit (loss) for the year

(30,715)

(5,126)

(25,589)

Total Revenues and income

SisalPay and Banca 5: “an already large company”
The Group was established in December 2019 when a complex corporate and financial transaction was
completed by means of which the parent company Sisal Group S.p.A. and Banca 5 S.p.A. (Intesa
Sanpaolo Group), through the contributions of their respective business units, established the first Italian
company of Proximity Banking & Payments.

Sisal Servizi

Sisal Holding

SisalPay

SisalPay and Banca5

Mooney

launch of group offerings Sisal Holding, a payment SisalPay brand is registered, with the brand SisalPay | 5 the new business
for services to private
institution, is founded
starting a network entirely the first Italian Proximity brand is founded
Banking & Payment
citizens (payments, topdedicated to payment and
solution is created
ups, etc.) in betting shops
top-up services

The objective immediately pursued was not only economic but also social: to make payment services
and all transactions, until now available only at bank branches, always available and accessible thanks
to a network of over 45,000 points of sale, including bars, tobacconists and newsstands, and the most
advanced digital platforms.
It is a model designed to meet everyone's needs: from those who prefer to carry out transactions instore, with the support of an on-hand retailer, to those who want to use the services via an application
or through an online portal completely autonomously.
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The Group Structure
The Mooney Group is 70% owned by Sisal Group S.p.A. and 30% owned by Banca 5 S.p.A.
The parent company is ultimately subject to the control of CVC Capital Partners, one of the main
international private equity groups.
The Group’s corporate structure is shown below, which in 2020 saw the entry of the company Plusevice
S.r.l. and its subsidiary myCicero S.r.l. following the acquisition of 51% of the share capital of the former
by the company SisalPay Servizi S.p.A. (now Mooney Servizi S.p.A.)

Schumann
Investments S.A.

Intesa Sanpaolo
S.p.A.
100%

100%

Sisal Group S.p.A.

Banca 5 S.p.A.

70%

30%

Mooney Group S.p.A.

100%

Mooney S.p.A.

100%

Mooney Servizi
S.p.A.

PlusRe S.r.l.
51%

Pluservice
S.r.l.
KEY
Company
of the
Group

49%

30%

Third
party
shareho
lders

MyCicero
S.r.l.

70%

The company names based on the word Mooney, an evocative neologism in line with the new values,
strategy and positioning of the Group, were adopted by the parent company SisalPay Group S.p.A. and
by its subsidiaries SisalPay S.p.A. and SisalPay Servizi S.p.A. in April, as the last step of the so-called
“rebranding”, which culminated last November with the launch of the new commercial brand Mooney.
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Mission and values
The Group’s mission and values play a fundamental role in communicating its strategy, as well as
strengthening the corporate culture and encouraging the identification of individuals and the alignment
of individual objectives with those of the company, especially considering that the Group has developed
at the end of the previous year and in 2020 as a combination of different organizational structures and
business experiences, albeit ones that are complementary and synergistic.

Mission
The mission of the company is “To be the first and most accessible network of Proximity Banking
& Payments”.

Values
The Group’s values are:
Excellence
We work every day to offer only the best. Products and services that improve the lives of our customers.
Simplicity
We simplify payment transactions and transactional banking services with friendly, intuitive and practical
tools to use.

Customer first
At Mooney, the customer comes first: we anticipate and solve their requests with quality services and
tools at competitive prices.

Security
We are the result of the merger of SisalPay with Banca 5, a company that was "already established as
a great" guarantee of authority, solidity and credibility.

Proximity
We are always close to our customers, thanks to a network of over 45,000 stores and an advanced
digital ecosystem that is always accessible and on-hand.

Innovation
We believe that true innovation is synonymous with progress and that is why we constantly invest in
research and development.
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Sustainability
2020 was the first full year of activities following the aforementioned partnership between SisalPay and
Banca 5, two entities that have always worked for one common purpose: sustainability, with regard to
their stakeholders, of the company and the territories in which they operate.
In the first year of its life, facing the unusual impact of the pandemic that still afflicts us today, the Mooney
Group, through its management, its employees and its network, has shown extraordinary resilience,
emphasizing its propensity to responsibility.
Since the start of the “Covid-19” emergency, the Parent Company and its subsidiaries have worked
conscientiously to make the Company safe, ensuring business continuity and people's health.
During the first lockdown, the Group developed a CSR action plan with the aim of supporting and
showing firm solidarity with staff, the network of the points of sale and the community. The actions
identified followed three lines of intervention:
A. Supporting staff, with the signing of a Covid-19 health policy for all employees and the
immediate launch of the “100% Smartworking” plan. This was an important result
achieved thanks to the investments made in previous years in terms of technology and
training, which allowed all employees to work in complete safety.
B. Supporting the network of the points of sale, through a financial benefits plan and the
distribution of mask kits to the entire network, giving priority to operating points
(tobacconists and newsagents).
C. Supporting the community, through:
•

a direct donation to one of the most authoritative non-profit organizations Francesca Rava - to support the Policlinico Sacco Hospital in the maternity
wards during the Covid-19 period;

•

the elimination of money transfer fees (T-Transfer) in favor of Civil Protection.

To enhance the resilience shown by employees, customers and the network, in the peak period of the
health emergency, an institutional press page was set up, entitled “Everyday life deserves safety”,
published in the main national newspapers on April 8, 2020.
In addition to the activities strictly related to the Covid-19 period, Mooney also acted on two other
important fronts: local coverage with a view to financial inclusion and the continuous development of the
Cashless Society.
As is well known, the pandemic crisis has accelerated a whole series of events, such as the closure of
bank branches. In this respect, a great deal of attention was paid to local coverage, guaranteeing the
community basic banking services, access to payment services to the Public Administration, also
emphasizing the leadership in the ranking of Payment Service Providers towards PAGOPA, and other
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payment and top-up services allowing customers, on the one hand, and partner companies, on the
other, to continue carrying out a whole series of activities, even in the absence of bank branches.
Finally, as in previous years, Mooney continued to contribute to an increasingly cashless Italy, allowing
resellers to use the POS already connected to the terminal, not only for payment services but for all
point of sale services, and at the same time expanding its portfolio of prepaid cards, including proprietary
prepaid cards. These cards also made it possible, through the account function, to access the income
support measures implemented by the government to respond to the crisis triggered by the pandemic,
even for the most vulnerable segments of the population. Individuals, families and businesses, in fact,
can benefit from the instruments introduced by the various “liquidity” and “relief” decree-laws (cashback,
moratoria on mortgages, tax measures, income support and access to credit) provided they reside in an
area with adequate financial education and banking services.

Before analyzing the main factors in arriving at the profit (loss) for the year, the reference market
dynamics and the main past year events are described below.

Industry Overview
Services market in Italy: the scenario
The 2018-2020 trend
Market analyses were performed by processing data from a study carried out by the Digital Innovation
Observatory of the Polytechnic University of Milan, “Quantification of the payment market in Italy”.
The addressable market for transactional payment services and banking services consists of three main
segments: Traditional Retail (post offices, bank branches), Proximity Retail, and Digital, in which the
Group operates directly.
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Traditional
Retail

Proximity
Retail

Digital

This is represented by simple transactional services (bank transfers, withdrawals, etc.) and payment
(invoices, PagoPA, telephone top-ups, prepaid cards) that are carried out via a physical channel
through post offices and bank branches.

This includes simple transactional services (bank transfers, withdrawals, etc.) and payment services
(bill payments, PagoPA, telephone top-ups, prepaid cards) that are carried out via a physical
channel in Tobacconists, Bars, Newsagents and other commercial categories.

Turnover from prepaid cards and digital payments:
• Prepaid cards: this includes the spending volumes of prepaid cards at sales points and online
• Digital payments: this includes online/mobile payment transactions relating to the payment of
utilities/bill, taxes/payment of fines and top-ups; by contrast, payment transactions carried out by
direct debit are excluded.

The addressable market as a whole reached 246 billion in turnover, down by approximately 9%
compared to 2019, due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. This decline was mainly due to the loss
of premiums in the Traditional Retail segment, which represents 73% of the market's premiums.

The Proximity Retail and Digital channels in which the Group operates have demonstrated resilience
despite the health emergency. In particular:
-

Proximity Retail, despite the government restrictions imposed to protect public health, which led
to the partial closure of points of sale in the first few months of the year, managed to keep its
turnover almost stable in 2020 (around Euro 26 billion), as evidence of the fact that the simplicity
and ease of access of the proximity channel are considered important assets by the consumers;

-

the Digital segment, benefiting from the drive of digitalization in the country and the increase in
e-commerce, recorded a turnover of around Euro 40 billion in 2020, showing an average growth
rate of 7.1% (CAGR 2018-2020).
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Chart 1
Turnover [2018-2020; EUR bn]
CAGR
‘18-‘20

CAGR -4.3%
-8.8%

2

Digital
Proximity
Retail

1

Traditional
Retail

3

268.4

269.6

34.7
(13%)

38.4
(14%)
27.5
(10%)

26.2
(10%)
207.5
(77%)

1
2018

203.7
(76%)

2
2019

245.8
39.8
(16%)
25.6
(11%)

180.5
(73%)

7.1%
1.1%

-6.7%

3
2020

Mooney reference market
Source: Analyses based on data from PoliMi and competitors’ annual reports

Analyzing in more detail the segments composing the Proximity Retail, it is noted that:
-

The Payments segment reached around Euro 15 billion in 2020 (CAGR 18-20: + 4.3%) thanks
to the simplicity, convenience and speed of the service offered in the proximity channel.

-

The Telco segment continues to show a decreasing trend (CAGR 18-20: -20.6%) mainly due to
a change in Italian habits.

-

The Prepaid segment, also thanks to the increase in e-commerce, reversed the trend shown in
2019, collecting Euro 6.3 billion, + 9.4% compared to the previous year. The Group strongly
believes in the potential of the segment and decided, in 2020, to issue its “Mooney” prepaid
card in collaboration with the Intesa Sanpaolo Group.

-

In 2020, the Banking segment, including transactional banking services launched in the
Proximity retail market in 2018 by Banca 5 S.p.A., collected over Euro 1.5 billion, showing
significant growth, equal to 68% compared to 2019. Mooney's strategy for the future, i.e. to
become the leading proximity banking business, focuses significantly on the growth of this
segment, also exploiting the recent market trend of a gradual reduction in the number of bank
branches by the leading banking players.
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2 Proximity Retail Market
Turnover [2018-2020; EUR bn]

CAGR -1.1%

VAR%
‘19-‘20

CAGR
‘18-‘20

68.0%

65.1%

-34.9%

-20.6%

9.4%

-6.9%

-8.4%

4.3%

-6.7%

Banking services*
Telco

26.2

27.5

25.6

0.5
4.8

0.9
4.6

1.5

5.7

6.3

3.0

Prepaid

7.2

Payments

13.7

16.3

14.9

2018

2019

2020

Source: Analyses based on data from PoliMi and competitors’ annual reports
Note: *Banking services are composed of payments on notice (MAV) and payments of taxes on notice (RAV), Loans and Bank Transfers

Lastly, the Group’s reference market also includes turnover from online and mobile bill payments,
paying-in slips, taxes, penalties, etc., as well as the volume of spending in this channel through prepaid
cards. In 2020, this channel recorded around Euro 40 billion, up 3.4% compared to 2019 and with a
2018-2020 CAGR of 7.1%.
The Digital Payments, which in 2020 reached Euro 4.3 billion, owe their growing trend to payments from
PagoPA, the possible tax benefits linked to the use of digital payments and the growth of Telco digital
payments driven by the increase in transactions on the websites/apps of telecommunications providers.
The Prepaid segment represents most of the volumes of the Digital channel, with total deposits of Euro
35.5 billion and a 2018-2020 CAGR of 7.4%. This is due to the increase in the use of prepaid cards in
e-commerce and to the greater use by consumers of contactless payment instruments, which was also
encouraged by the restrictions related to the Covid-19 epidemic.
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3

Digital

Turnover [2018-2020; EUR bn]

CAGR + 7.1%

VAR%
‘19-‘20

CAGR
‘18-‘20

1.2%

4.4%

3.7%

7.4%

+3.4%

34.7
Digital Payments

3.9

Prepaid
30.8

2018

38.4
4.2

34.2

2019

39.8
4.3

35.5

2020

Source: Analyses based on data from PoliMi and competitors’ annual reports

Payments and basic transactional banking operations within the Group are managed by Mooney S.p.A.,
which is licensed to operate as an e-money institute, based on suitable authorization granted previously
by the Bank of Italy.

In 2020, the Group also entered the digital mobility payments market thanks to the finalization of the
acquisition of a majority stake in PluService S.r.l. and its subsidiary myCicero S.r.l., companies that
develop integrated digital solutions for transport companies that sell mobility services to consumers on
apps and online websites. The myCicero platform makes it possible to pay on the app for parking lots
and blue zones, as well as to purchase railway tickets and passes for local public transport and longdistance buses.
The mobility payments market has significant transaction values and a high degree of fragmentation in
terms of segments and operators. The main mobility segments covered by the myCicero offer include
passenger rail transport (turnover of around Euro 4.6 billion), local public transport (around Euro 3.5
billion) and paid parking (around Euro 1.5 billion). The recent health emergency linked to the spread of
Covid-19 has led to severe restrictions on mobility with a consequent impact on the values of the
reference market.
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Events of the period
Extraordinary transactions
Acquisition of controlling interest in Pluservice S.r.l.
On July 31, 2020, the acquisition of 51% of the company Pluservice S.r.l. by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. was
completed. The acquired company holds 70% of the shares of myCicero S.r.l., of which Mooney Servizi
S.p.A. already held the remaining 30%, and therefore with the direct control of Pluservice S.r.l., the
Group also obtained indirect control of myCicero S.r.l.. The transaction is part of the Group’s business
diversification and growth strategy, which sees the Mobility sector as an important area of development
and synergies.

Other events
New prepaid card
In 2020, the Group continued its strategy of developing new products, especially for consumer
customers. In particular, in December, after intense preparation and fine-tuning activities, a new prepaid
electronic money product was launched, under the Mooney brand. This is a prepaid card with an IBAN
code that is therefore usable to all intents and purposes also as a payment account, which has
innovative features that combine the security requirements of prepaid products with the availability of
service to customers, thanks to the possibility of managing the product both through the company's
distribution network and through the Mooney App, for a complete and omni-channel customer
experience. The product is aimed both at customers who want to make online purchases in total security,
thanks to the self-limitation and control characteristics typical of prepaid products, which ensure a
reduction in the risk of online fraud, and, above all, for non-banking customers: the characteristics of the
product that configure it as a payment account with an IBAN, which can be used to carry out bank
transfer transactions, the limited cost and the availability of the service through a distribution network of
over thirty thousand affiliated points of sale, make the Mooney card particularly accessible to customer
segments that do not have full access to banking services. Moreover, thanks to widespread availability,
the product compensates for the reduction in the offer of bank branches, guaranteeing customers a
basic, on-hand banking service.

Wirecard crisis
In June 2020, as widely reported by the press and the media in general, the Wirecard Group, an entity
that had been a recognized and respected leader in the global payment services market until then, was
heavily involved in a serious situation of financial instability, due to a disputed significant shortfall in the
parent company Wirecard AG, which prevented the auditing firm Ernst & Young from issuing the
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certification of the 2019 financial statements of the aforementioned group. The company Mooney S.p.A.
(formerly SisalPay S.p.A.) unfortunately found itself involved in the matter as the distributor in Italy under
the SisalPay brand of a contactless prepaid card with an IBAN, issued by Wirecard Card Solution LTD
(WCLS), on the basis of an agreement signed in June 2019 and transferred to the Group company as
part of the broader transfer transaction completed in December of the same year.
The Group company, despite not having any legal liability, and being, in fact, a victim of what happened,
which can potentially cause serious damage to its market image, as well as economic damage, at a
strategically very delicate time, has promptly reacted to protect the interests of consumers in the first
place, very quickly implementing an emergency plan to guarantee any requesting consumer/card holder
the reimbursement of the funding relating to the card or the activation of an equivalent “physical” card
issued by Banca 5. Subsequently, the Group proceeded to withdraw from the existing contract and at
the same time requested the transfer of the so-called BIN of the card from WCSL to SisalPay, with the
subsequent transfer of customer funds to SisalPay itself, which in November took on the roleof card
"issuer"and at the same time negotiated with the counterparty the continuity of the provision of the
technological and processing services necessary for the proper functioning of the cards.
All these initiatives implemented by the company and the Group made it possible to keep the SisalPay
card active on the market, without prejudice to the maximum possible acceleration of the project to issue
the new card, which was finalized, as previously mentioned, at the end of the year.
Integration and banking products
In 2020, the Group completed the integration of its commercial offer deriving from the products subject
to the transfer of the respective business units of Banca 5 S.p.A., Sisal Group S.p.A. and Sisal S.p.A.,
completed at the end of the previous year, to its own merchants and consumer customers. In particular,
the extension of the offer consisted of the expansion, within the former distribution network transferred
from Banca 5 S.p.A., of the services offered under the SisalPay brand, including, in particular, payment
services relating to paying-in slips, with direct disbursements through the SisalPay platform, telephone
top-up services, pin services and other top-up services for accounts and prepaid cards. Likewise, the
entire offer of banking products inherited from the Banca 5 S.p.A. business unit was implemented on
the former SisalPay distribution network. In particular, these banking services include the possibility of
making transfers to payment accounts and current accounts, paying MAV and making cash withdrawals
from Intesa Sanpaolo accounts, and others. The extension of the offer of banking services found favor
with the end customers, especially given the continuous reduction in the offer of bank branches, thus
providing a service at the social level. These services had an even greater public service value in the
past year, in which the Covid-19 pandemic led to closures of, or restrictions on the access to, post offices
and bank branches, significantly reducing the availability of these services to the customers. The
Group’s distribution network made up for this reduction in its offer, making essential services available
to the public to ensure the continuity of these banking transactions.
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Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic
With the Prime Ministerial Decree of March 11, 2020, the government implemented precautionary
measures to contain the spread of the virus, imposing the lock-down of all commercial activities not of
public utility, including bars and restaurants throughout the Italian territory. In this scenario, the Mooney
network was able to operate, starting from March 12, and until May 18, only through tobacconists and
newsstands, which make up approximately 70% of the entire network, as the remaining 30% is
represented by the Bar category. In the second half of the year, the relaxation of those restrictive
measures implemented by the government allowed a partial recovery, however the situation did not
return to normal due to the business hours limitations that some product categories (Bar) were subject
to during the second half of the year.
In order to protect the health of its employees and ensure business continuity, the Group implemented
a “Disaster Recovery” plan, in just a few weeks, which enabled the activation of remote working on
100% of the company population as well as of commercial and technical activities to support the
business. In addition to the “Disaster Recovery” plan, the SisalPay Group developed a CSR action plan
to support its staff, the retail sales network and the community, as described above.
In order to minimize the negative economic impacts due to the epidemic, a “Mitigation Plan” was also
implemented. In particular, in support of volumes and business, the Group expanded the distribution of
its prepaid card, guaranteed technical and commercial remote support to the network, and continued to
invest in media and marketing to support volumes.
In the second half of the year, the easing of the restrictive measures implemented by the Government
allowed a partial recovery, however the situation did not return to normal due to the time limitations that
some distribution categories (Bars) also suffered during the second semester.
Although the economic and financial results were negatively impacted by the epidemic, the business
proved resilient compared to other sectors, managing to grow in terms of revenues (net of remuneration
paid to distribution chains) by 7% (2020 vs. 2019 pro-forma).
In particular, growth by quarter was + 4% (1st quarter), + 2% (2nd quarter) + 8% (3rd quarter), + 17%
(4th quarter).

Net revenues Q1

Net revenues Q2

Net revenues Q3

Net revenues Q4

Net revenues FY

[Eur. m]

[Eur. m]

[Eur. m]

[Eur. m]

[Eur. m]

+4%

+2%

35.8

37.0

2019A1)

2020A

+8%

34.9

35.7

2019A1)

2020A

35.6

2019A1)

+15%

38.4

+7%

42.0
36.4

2020A

2019A1)

2020A

142.7

2019A1)

153.2

2020A

(1) Proforma on an annual basis and net of the revenues generated by the Postepay product distributed until 31.12.19 by
Banca 5 S.p.A.
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It should be noted that the 2019 figures were reported on a pro-forma basis (as the group was
established on December 13, 2019) and corresponds to the sum of the full-year economic results of the
business units transferred to the Mooney Group by the Sisal Group and by Banca 5 S.p.A..

Overview
The economic results for 2020, summarized in the table at the beginning of this Report, reflect,
especially in comparison with the same results of the previous year, the particular timing of the formation
of the Group following the completion of the extraordinary transaction, from which it was established at
the end of 2019, and consequently the fact that the results of the main operating companies (specifically
SisalPay S.p.A. and SisalPay Servizi S.p.A., now respectively Mooney S.p.A. and Mooney Servizi
S.p.A.) were recognized in the 2019 consolidated financial statements only as from the month of
December.
The operating result for the year, equal to approximately Euro 13.2 million, compared to a negative
operating profit of approximately Euro 0.4 million recorded in the consolidated financial statements of
the previous year, derives from the revenues and income recorded on a full year for approximately Euro
312 million, relating to the new activities started after the company contributions at the end of 2019 and
more specifically and mainly to the following payments:
-

for payment services for slips and stamps, for approximately Euro 186 million;

-

for services related to both the distribution and top-up of prepaid cards issued by third parties
and the "issuing" and top-up of pre-paid cards issued by the Company as an Electronic Money
Institute, for a total of approximately Euro 13 million;

-

for the distribution and sale of top-ups and telephone cards and other commercial services, for
approximately Euro 34 million;

-

for the banking-type services offered relating to the activities of withdrawal, payment, transfer
of money in addition to the payments of fiscal proxies, typically the responsibility of traditional
distribution channels (bank and post office branches), but with great potential for the proximity
channel, for over Euro 17 million;

-

relating to the businesses of the newly acquired Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l. consisting
in the supply of technological solutions for public and private transport companies, as well as
services to citizens for the digital payment of parking lots, blue stripes and the purchase of
transport tickets, for about Euro 4 million;

-

for the fees accrued due from the Mooney distribution network on the basis of the signed
contractual conditions and to a lesser extent other services provided to the points of sale
including the service fees relating to EasyCassa installations, a retail technological solution
integrated with cash register functionality, electronic invoicing, management and payment
acceptance, for a total of more than Euro 53 million.
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The aforementioned revenues and income (expressed gross of the relative remuneration of the
distribution chains), despite the impact of the pandemic emergency, were only slightly below
(approximately -3%) the similar figure for 2019, calculated on a pro forma basis as the sum of the results
referable to the Banking & Payments perimeter to the two transferring groups and what was achieved
directly by the Group in the last part of the year, sterilized the revenues deriving from the contract that
bound Banca 5 SpA and Poste Italiane S.p.A., relating to the distribution and top-up of the Postepay
prepaid card, discontinued with effect from January 2020.
Among the business segments that have shown the greatest dynamism, the banking services sector
stands out in particular, which recorded an appreciable growth trend, thanks to higher volumes of
deposits per point of sale and distribution synergies with the progressive expansion to the assigned
network from the Sisal group together with and the prepaid card segment, a segment in which the Group
has intensified its development activities by accelerating product distribution and launching its Mooney
card on the market.
As a source of this trend in revenues, operating costs amounted to a total of approximately € 299 million,
mainly consisting of the following components:
-

costs for services, for approximately Euro 222 million (of which approximately Euro 162 million
relating to the remuneration paid to the distribution chains);

-

personnel costs, for over Euro 22 million, also deriving from the strengthening of the operating
structures to support new business;

-

costs for depreciation of tangible and intangible assets, for about Euro 42 million, which reflect,
in addition to the full year charges deriving from the assets transferred to the Group at the end
of 2019, also those relating to the significant investments made during the year.

The aforementioned costs also reflect the impact of non-recurring and / or extraordinary charges,
amounting to approximately Euro 22.3 million in 2020, up by more than 35% compared to the similar
figure reflected in the pro-forma 2019 situation.
The breakdown of these expenses with regard to the year 2020 can be summarized in the following
main categories:
(a) non-recurring costs of around Euro 15.8 million, with: around Euro 9 million referring to the costs
for the integrating of the transferred businesses and at the same time for the segregation from
the transferring companies; around Euro 4.3 million deriving from the Wirecard crisis; Euro 1.8
million incurred to deal with the Covid-19 health emergency and Euro 0.8 million mainly relating
to costs incurred for the acquisition of the Pluservice group;
(b) extraordinary costs of around Euro 6.5 million relating to the launch of new business lines, with
particular reference to the proprietary prepaid card.

As a result of the aforementioned trends, the gross profitability (EBITDA), again compared to the proforma figure obtained with the aforementioned method, is in line with 2019 result, neutralizing the effect
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in both periods of non-recurring and extraordinary charges, despite the negative impacts deriving from
Covid-19.
The context of structural complexity, deriving from the challenges related to the start-up of new
integrated business activities and especially to the pandemic crisis which, albeit to a lesser extent than
other contexts and sectors, had a significant impact on the reference market and therefore also on the
results achieved in 2020, did not however limit the Group’s main operating entities in pursuing their
strategic objectives with determination, starting all the operational and investment activities necessary
for this purpose.
Below is a representation of the EBITDA by quarter showing a gradual recovery in the second and third
quarters of the year.
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for a correct "like for like" representation, the 2019 proforma EBITDA is reduced by the contribution margin (Euro 5
million) brought about by the distribution of Postepay top-ups (interrupted from 1/1/2020) and adjusted for costs G&A
emerging in the new group due to the integration of the two transferred branches

From a financial and equity point of view, the year 2020 developed in continuity with the structure defined
at the end of the previous year.
The key performance indicators relating to Net invested capital, as well as some financial indicators, are
summarized in the following table (in Euro thousand):

Sources and Uses

2020

2019

Var.
(abs.)

Var. (%)

Net Invested Capital (NIC)

653,693

595,205

58,488

9.8%

Funding by third parties

893,053

809,359

83,694

10.3%

(239,360)

(214,154)

(25,206)

-11.8%

Debt-to-equity ratio

-3.73

-3.78

n.a.

n.a.

Normalized ROI (EBIT/NIC)

5.4%

9.1%

n.a.

n.a.

Shareholders’ equity
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Net invested capital is the sum of the statement of financial position items related to trade receivables
and payables, inventories, fixed assets, employee severance indemnities, provisions for risks and
charges, other assets and other liabilities, not taking into account the effect of the differences in timing
in the settlement of the items relating to working capital for collection and payment services for a total
amount of around Euro 60 million in 2020 (equal to about Euro 73 million in 2019). That amount is
reflected in an increase in the aggregate items Invested Capital and Funding by third parties. The latter
represents the algebraic sum of the financial liabilities of the Group for a total amount of Euro 902 million
in 2020 (approximately Euro 806 million in 2019) net of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents adjusted
as indicated above for a total of Euro 9 million in 2020 (approximately Euro 3 million in 2019).
Instead, the value of shareholders’ equity reflects, as already discussed in the report on the consolidated
financial statements of 2019, the different accounting treatment of the business combinations finalized
at the end of the year, i.e. that referring to the business acquired from Banca 5 S.p.A. is measured at
fair value, while that relating to the assets transferred by the Sisal Group, which the Parent was a part
of, was recorded at values consistent with those in the consolidated financial statements of the parent
Sisal Group S.p.A., as it entailed operations under common control. As a result, the difference in these
values compared to the (significantly higher) prices paid for the acquisitions, in line with the market
values, was recorded against the Group’s equity, in a manner equivalent to a distribution of reserves to
shareholders, thus resulting in the negative amount.

The change occurring during the year in the consolidated equity is mainly the result, on the one hand,
of the net effect of the period loss and, on the other, of the increase in minority interests (for around
Euro 5.5 million) deriving from the acquisition of the controlling interest in the Pluservice S.r.l. group and
the consequent line-by-line consolidation of its net assets, with the emergence of the interest held by
the minority shareholder, former controlling shareholder of the acquired company.

With reference to the sustainability of the invested capital and in particular of the goodwill recorded in
the statement of assets of the consolidated balance sheet for a total of approximately Euro 534 million,
the Group promptly carried out at the end of the year the updating of the so-called “Impairment test” as
required by the reference accounting standards.
To this end, the Group's management has developed a plan of company results and the related cash
flows which envisages important growth objectives over the five-year plan horizon, in line with the
Group's mission of being the first and most accessible network of proximity banking & payments. The
projected growths are linked to the development of all sectors and products in which the Group operates.
In particular, the plan provides for the growth of PagoPa and Digital Payments services, the expansion
of the distribution network, the development and accreditation of the Mooney Card, launched during the
year, and the activation of new business lines in the mobility sector, thanks to the know-how obtained
with the strategic acquisition of myCicero Srl and Pluservice S.r.l..
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In consideration of the particular context following the pandemic emergency in progress and as
envisaged and recommended by ESMA, the impairment test exercise was carried out by weighing,
starting from the aforementioned reference plan, multiple scenarios, which reflect different assumptions
development, for the determination of the so-called “Value in use” or recoverable value of the
aforementioned invested capital. The plan assumptions that have been analysed to determine the
various scenarios are linked to the hypotheses of growth and development of the network and the
consequent impact on volumes, the penetration of banking products, the possibility of developing further
vertical integrations in the value chain, as well as the possibility of making investments more efficient.
The aforementioned calculations did not reveal any critical issues and / or the need to make writedowns, even if partial, of the accounted goodwill.
As regards Funding by third parties - net of the effect of the increase in the so-called “Non-cash” interests
(equal to approximately Euro 26 million) accrued in 2020 on the debt notes subscribed at the end of
2019 by the Parent Company in favor of the shareholders for a total of Euro 286 million in principal, of
which Euro 100 million to the parent company Sisal Group S.p.A. and Euro 186 million to the shareholder
Banca 5 S.p.A. - the increase of approximately Euro 58 million is mainly due to the adjustment paid in
February 2020 to the shareholders of the Parent Company for approximately Euro 56 million, on the
basis of the agreements in force prior to the time of the transfer of the business units, while the flows
from operations were substantially offset by investments in support of business development made
during the year, by charges relating to debt servicing, mainly contracted at the end of 2019 and the
impact of the new lease contracts under IFRS 16 activated during the year.

Risk and uncertainty factors
The Group operates in a highly competitive context, also marked by significant technological evolution.
It also has relationships with a very high number of customers in the public and private sectors,
recipients of its payment, financial and business services, and with multiple points of sale, also operating
as payment points throughout the country.
The management of the Group, which comes from the contributing groups and has long-term experience
in the reference sectors, constantly monitors the evolution of these factors and relationships,
undertaking legal action where necessary to protect the interests of the Group companies.
The Group conducts its business on the basis of criteria for the containment of exposure to risks,
therefore its risk management strategy is aimed at minimizing the potential negative effects of risks on
performance and financial stability.
The risk management system is overseen by the Risk & Compliance department, which relies on the
support of the other departments involved (so-called risk owners), each within its own area of
competence.
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In 2020, the Group launched a project aimed at defining the Enterprise Risk Management Framework
(the so-called ERM framework), used by Top Management in the area of risk monitoring and
management across both company functions and at the various levels of the organization.
In particular, as part of the definition of the ERM framework, the Risk Universe, which summarizes all
the types of risk considered applicable and relevant for the Group, also based on the business and
operations of the Group companies, was identified.
The definition of the Risk Universe was characterized by the following phases:
1. identification of the scope of regulatory risks: first of all, the risks applicable to electronic money
institutions and, in perspective, to other financial intermediaries in general were identified;
2. identification of significant risks through ad hoc interviews and analysis of AS-IS processes;
3. definition of the scope of reference in terms of Group companies impacted by the identified risks,
with particular reference to Mooney Group S.p.A., Mooney S.p.A. (IMEL) and Mooney Servizi S.p.A..
For each case of significant risk, the risk management process was defined, then formalized in the
related policies, with an indication of the roles and responsibilities of the structures involved.
These policies will be subject to review and amendment in the event of regulatory updates, interventions
by the Supervisory Authority, changes in business strategies or changes in the reference context that
are relevant to business processes and, in any case, at least every 18 months.
Lastly, for measurable risks only, the reference indicators (KRIs - Key Risk Indicators) were defined,
which are monitored on a quarterly basis by the Risk & Compliance Department (Risk Reporting) on the
basis of the data provided by the competent company functions.
The results of monitoring are included in the reports for the corporate bodies, the Internal Audit function
(summary report) and the Risk Control and Related Parties Committee (detailed report). The Group also
continuously monitors its overall exposure to risk in order to identify any new risks to which it could be
exposed.
It should be noted that the section of the Notes dedicated to financial instruments, to which reference is
made for further details, describes the exposure of the Group in particular to pricing, credit and liquidity
risks and to the risk of fluctuations in cash flows and the policies developed by the Company to deal
with these risks.
Since the issuing and distribution of electronic money and the provision of payment services are carried
out by also resorting to the outsourcing of certain operational and organizational controls, the Group has
also defined a specific framework for the management of outsourcing and related risks, identifying a
Contact Person in charge of the outsourced activities and defining:
•

a process to be followed if it is decided to outsource certain activities, services or functions;

•

roles and responsibilities of the structures involved;

•

a regulatory checklist for the analysis of contracts;
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•

a checklist for the risk assessment on outsourced activities.

Finally, it should be noted that at the beginning of 2020 the Group adopted an organizational model that
conforms to the provisions of Legislative Decree 231/2001 on matters regarding their corporate
administrative liability, updated to align with the most recent regulatory provisions.

Governance
The Mooney Group is aware of the importance of a good Corporate Governance system to achieve
strategic objectives and create long-term sustainable value, ensuring effective governance, in
compliance with the institutions and the rules; i.e. effective in consideration of the principles of cost
containment and fair to all parties involved in the life of the Group.
In accordance with the above, the Group maintains its Corporate Governance system constantly in line
with the relevant recommendations and regulations, adopting national and international best practices.

Mooney has adopted a traditional management and organizational model, with a Shareholders' Meeting,
a Board of Directors and a Board of Statutory Auditors. The Group’s Corporate Governance structure is
based on the central role of the Board of Directors - as the highest body responsible for managing the
company in the interest of the shareholders - in providing strategic guidance, guaranteeing the
transparency of corporate decision-making processes and in defining an effective internal control and
risk management system, including internal and external decision-making processes.

The Parent Company Mooney Group S.p.A. is currently managed by a Board of Directors composed of
seven Directors - in office until the date of the Shareholders' Meeting that will be called to approve the
Financial Statements for the year ending December 31, 2021.

The Board of Directors is vested with the broadest powers of ordinary and extraordinary administration,
with the exception of those that the law reserves exclusively to the Shareholders' Meeting.
The Board of Directors has identified a Managing Director from among its members, who has been
granted the proxies and powers of ordinary administration necessary or useful for the performance of
the company’s business.
The management of the company is the responsibility of the Directors, who carry out the operations
necessary for the implementation of the corporate purpose. The Board of Directors is also responsible
for the Group’s internal control and risk management system.
During the 2020 financial year, the Group progressively fine-tuned its internal control systems, with
specific reference to the Board Committees and the Internal Auditing function, completing a further and
important step in the process of segregating its activities from those previously managed within the Sisal
Group in combination with the world of Gaming.
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The main operating structures in this area are listed below:
-

Control, Risk and Related Parties Committee (Board committee);

-

Appointments and Remuneration Committee (Board committee);

-

Corporate Internal Audit department;

-

Corporate Risk & Compliance department;

-

Corporate Anti-money laundering department;

-

Data Protection Officer;

-

IT Security & Compliance;

-

Compliance department for the prevention of corruption;

-

Health Safety, Environment and Quality (employer's delegate pursuant to art. 16 of Italian
Legislative Decree 81/2008);

The Board Committees support the Board of Directors on their specific matters and have access to
all relevant information and to all company functions, especially the activities of the corporate control
department, from which they receive regular information; these departments are involved whenever
it is deemed necessary.

With specific reference to the Control, Risk and Related Parties Committee, it should be noted that
it was established in March 2020, with the following main tasks:
-

performance of the functions set forth in the Related Party Transactions Procedure, including
any proposals to the Board of Directors for amendments or additions to said Procedure.

-

assistance to the Board of Directors with investigative, propositional and advisory functions
applied to assessments and decisions relating to the Internal Control System, and providing
opinions in relation to the approval of the financial statements and relations with the independent
auditing firm.
In this context, the following tasks are assigned to the Committee:
o

assisting the Board of Directors in carrying out the duties relating to the Control System;

o

providing opinions in relation to the correct use of the accounting standards and, in
relation to the Group to which they belong, their consistency for the purposes of
preparing the consolidated financial statements;

o

at the request of the Executive Director appointed for this purpose, expressing opinions
on specific aspects concerning the identification of the main business risks as well as
the design, implementation and management of the Internal Control System;
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o

reviewing the work plan prepared by the Internal Audit, Risk & Compliance and AntiMoney Laundering departments, as well as the periodic reports prepared by them;

o

carrying out the additional tasks assigned to it by the Board of Directors;

o

reporting to the Board of Directors, at least once every quarter, including once at the
time of approval of the financial statements, on the activities carried out and on the
adequacy of the Internal Control System.

The Committee has also the right to access the information and company functions necessary
for the performance of its duties and may refer to external consultants at the company’s
expense.
The Control and Related Parties Committee is responsible for Mooney Group S.p.A., Mooney
S.p.A. and Mooney Servizi S.p.A..

Lastly, a system of internal controls based on the Group’s organizational structure was defined by
the competent boards. The Internal Control System is the set of rules, procedures and
organizational structures that make it possible to ensure compliance with company strategies.
The internal control structure was defined on three levels:
-

first level controls: line controls entrusted to the managers of the operating processes of
reference (internal and/or external to the companies; the managers of the external processes
must comply with the individual Service Level Agreements in force on the basis of the
outsourcing contract, agreed upon with each internal manager) .

-

second-level controls:
-

compliance: aimed at monitoring the risk of incurring legal or administrative sanctions,
significant financial losses or reputational damage, due to Company’s operations that are
not in compliance with the applicable laws. The controls carried out by the following
specialist units are also included in the overall compliance mechanism: IT Security &
Compliance; Data Protection Officer; Compliance Department for the Prevention of
Corruption; Health-Safety-Environment & Quality;

-

-

risk management: to manage and monitor overall risks;

-

anti-money laundering: to monitor the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing.

third-level controls: internal audit controls aimed at verifying both the regularity of operations
and the functionality of the controls adopted by the Group companies for the management of all
risks associated with operations, as well as the completeness, functionality and effectiveness
of the overall Internal Control System; and internal audit inspections, aimed at identifying
irregularities and embezzlement within the company organization.
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Information regarding human resources and the environment
As at December 31, 2020, the Group had 582 employees, two hundred more than at the end of 2019.
No cases of death and/or serious work accidents or occupational diseases were recorded among
employees or former employees, or any cases of mobbing.
With reference to the issue of any environmental impacts deriving from the company activities, it should
be noted that during the year there were no cases of environmental damage attributed to the Group
companies or final sanctions or penalties charged to the same for crimes or environmental damage;
moreover, most of the activities relevant to these purposes were carried out during the year by external
suppliers or received, on the basis of temporary service agreements executed at the end of the previous
year, by companies of the Sisal group.

Research and Development
Unlike last year, when the newly established Group was able to operate only for a short period of time,
the financial year 2020 recorded significant investments in tangible and intangible assets acquired from
third parties or developed with internal resources, in particular with reference to application systems
and/or similar.
Overall, the value of the investments amounted to around Euro 31 million, of which around Euro 6 million
referring to tangible assets and around Euro 25 million to intangible assets. Investments in the latter
category mainly refer to the development of management software applications to support the various
corporate businesses as well as new products launched during the year.
In addition to these investments, it is also necessary to mention the capitalizations carried out during
the year in relation to the new lease contracts subject to the provisions of the international accounting
standard IFRS 16, for a total of approximately Euro 9.3 million, including the investment in the new data
center managed by the company Aruba S.p.A., exclusively dedicated to the IT activities of the Mooney
Group and launched in the last quarter of the year.

Lastly, as already mentioned, it is important to underline the strategic investment finalized during the
year to acquire control of the Pluservice group against a consideration at closing of approximately Euro
4.1 million (gross of the cash availability included in the financial statements of the target companies),
to which Euro 2.4 million should be added in 2021 and which envisages in the coming years, according
to the results that will be achieved by the acquired companies, an earn-out payment to the seller, as
well as the possibility for the Group to acquire, through the exercise of call options, full control of the
acquired company and its subsidiary myCicero S.r.l., already 30% owned by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. in
2019.

25

On the basis of the provisional entry relating to this acquisition, goodwill was also recognized in the
Group’s financial statements as at December 31, 2020, and the portion referring to the minority interest
was valued at approximately Euro 9.9 million.

Transactions with parent companies
As regards transactions with the Parent Sisal Group S.p.A., and its direct subsidiary Sisal S.p.A., in
addition to that previously illustrated, to be noted are the operating, management and technological
support services, governed by specific contracts called temporary service agreements, for a total of
approximately Euro 4.5 million, of which approximately Euro 0.9 million related to capitalized application
development activities; furthermore, as already described earlier, the Parent Company has already
provided collection services carried out in favor of the Group’s operating companies, in relation to which,
at the end of the year, there were net receivables totaling approximately Euro 48 million, settled at the
start of the new year, in relation to approximately Euro 285 thousand in fees paid to said company.

During 2020, the relationship with the VAT Group, which sees the three Mooney companies as the
investee companies and Sisal Group S.p.A. as the consolidating company, became fully operational.
On the basis of this ratio, at the end of the year, a net debt position of the Mooney Group was recognized,
based on the periodic tax settlement, to the consolidating company for around Euro 99 thousand; in
addition, on the basis of the Group regulation signed at the time, the company Mooney Servizi S.p.A.
recorded a receivable of approximately Euro 2.5 million from the consolidating company and some of
its direct subsidiaries by way of compensation, which will be settled subsequently to the submission of
the related declarations for the year 2020.

Related party transactions
Transactions with related parties are further described in the Explanatory Notes, in particular Note 41,
which highlights the existence of relations with the minority shareholder of the Parent Company Banca
5 S.p.A., which exercises a significant influence over the Group, and with the parent company of Intesa
Sanpaolo S.p.A.
These transactions, of a commercial, operational and financial nature are also detailed in the
Explanatory Notes.

Treasury Shares
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Neither the Parent nor the other Group companies hold treasury shares, nor do they hold shares or
quotas in parent companies, either through trust companies or third parties. During the period, no
acquisitions or sales of these types of shares or quotas took place.

Audit Firm
The audit of the accounts is assigned, pursuant to law, to an audit firm enrolled in the register of auditors,
whose appointment is the responsibility of the Shareholders’ Meeting.
The assigned audit firm is PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A, which was granted the auditing assignment
for the three-year period 2018-2020.

Significant events occurring after the end of the year
The first months of 2021 were still characterized by the Covid-19 health emergency, with consequent
impacts on the Group's business as a result of the restrictive measures that the government authorities
had to adopt and which led in particular to a reduction in the hours worked and, in some cases, to the
partial blockage of the physical distribution network through which the Group operates, represented by
the Bar channel.
Therefore, despite a still complex context, the results achieved by Mooney in the first few months of the
new year were generally positive in almost all the main business segments, but especially in those linked
to new banking products and prepaid cards, with the very effective launch of the new Mooney Card,
which recorded significant growth rates compared to the same performances of the previous year.

In the first few months of 2021, the process of segregation from the operating and technological
structures, in particular from the Sisal Group, was further accelerated, with the achievement of some
important objectives, such as the segregation of the main management systems (including SAP, the
CRM system, etc.) and some related relevant operating procedures, such as those concerning bulk SSD
collections from the physical network.

There have been no further significant developments in the main business and corporate relationships
in addition to what has already been mentioned.

Outlook
The macroeconomic scenario for the current year, reflected in the 2021 Budget approved by the Group
last February, is affected by the negative impacts of Covid-19, especially, as already mentioned above,
based on the significant restrictions on the so-called Horeca channel that are still active. At the same
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time, however, it is expected that the market trend may show signs of recovery compared to 2020 in
line with the main macroeconomic indicators (GDP +4%), also thanks to a gradual return to normality
expected starting from the second part of the year.
In particular, the overall reference market for 2021 is estimated at around Euro 254 billion, up by around
3% compared to 2020, but with different trends in the sectors that compose it. In fact, if the traditional
market (banks and post offices) continues the downward trend already recorded in the last few years,
the growth trend of the other digital channels and proximity markets will be consolidated, and the
Mooney Group, through a more complete product offerings of the proximity channel, is ready to benefit
from this trend, with consequent benefits also as regards the market share that should further increase
during the year compared to the figure of just under 6% recorded at the end of 2020.

These trends give rise to an expectation of economic and financial results for the year 2021, in particular
with reference to indicators such as turnover, revenues and profitability, on the whole up compared to
the same results in 2020, thanks in particular to the contribution from strategic initiatives such as: (a)
the development of the Mooney prepaid card; (b) the increase in the volumes of banking services
through the expansion of the distribution network; and c) the strengthening of the Digital/Cashless
business.
These initiatives will be supported by a campaign of investments in tangible and intangible assets with
a further growth compared to the already significant levels recorded in the previous year and in any case
guaranteeing the financial balance of operations, thanks, on the one hand, to the contribution of
operational flows and, on the other, to financial sources that were already activated and available when
the group was established at the end of 2019.

Milan, April 21, 2021

***
On behalf of the Board of Directors

The Chairman
Prof. Paolo Fumagalli
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Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2020
Statement of Consolidated Comprehensive Income
(in Euro thousands)

note
Revenues
of which relative to related parties
Other income

7
41
8

Total Revenues and income
Materials, consumables and merchandise used

12.31.2020

12.31.2019

309,233
39,122
2,714

13,858
3,027
0

311,948

13,858

9

3,192

2

Services
of which relative to related parties
Lease and rent expenses

10
41
11

221,849
10,678
449

10,447
212
33

Personnel costs
of which relative to related parties
Other operating costs

12
41
13

22,497
2,038
5,523

958
71
1,104

Depreciation, amortization, provisions, impairment losses and reversals of fixed assets

14

45,194

1,702

13,244

(388)

Operating profit (loss), EBIT
Finance income and similar

15

34

0

Finance expenses and similar
of which relative to related parties
Adjustments to financial assets

16
41

52,725
26,200
0

1,819
858
0

(39,447)

(2,207)

(8,732)

2,919

(30,715)

(5,126)

0

0

(30,715)

(5,126)

Profit (loss) before income taxes
Taxes for the year
Profit (loss) from continuing operations
Profit (loss) from assets held for sale or disposal
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
Profit (loss) for the year pertaining to non-controlling interests
Profit (loss) for the year pertaining to the Group
Other components of comprehensive income:
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to the income statement:
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined-benefit plans for employees
Tax effect
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

17

(215)
(30,500)

(5,126)

81
(23)

0
0

(30,442)

(5,126)

1

Statement of Consolidated Financial Position
Assets
(in Euro thousands)

note

12.31.2020

12.31.2019

A) NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, equipment, plant and machinery

18

63,934

67,178

Goodwill

19

534,102

524,221

Intangible assets

20

127,294

110,368

Investments accounted for at equity

21

0

3,309

0

0

0

0

Investments
Deferred tax assets

22

Non-current financial assets
Other non-current assets

23

Total non-current assets

0

0

2,344

1,381

727,675

706,457

B) CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

24

3,923

5,457

Trade receivables
of which relative to related parties
Current financial assets

25
41
26

76,610
54,195
0

72,686
56,739
0

Other current assets
of which relative to related parties
Taxes receivable

30
41
27

11,670
4,618
12

3,107
647
157

Restricted bank deposits

28

61,142

17,192

29

16,055
69,103
29,172

445
69,549
18,841

Total current assets

222,460

168,148

TOTAL ASSETS

950,135

874,605

of which relative to related parties
Cash and cash equivalents
of which relative to related parties

Liabilities
note
A) EQUITY

12.31.2020

12.31.2019

31

Share capital

10,050

10,050

Share premium reserve

77,485

77,485

Legal Reserve

0

0

Other reserves

(301,681)

(296,563)

Profit (Loss) for the year
Total Equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity

(30,500)

(5,126)

(244,646)
5,286
(239,360)

(214,154)
0
(214,154)

B) NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term debt
of which relative to related parties
Provision for employee severance indemnities

32
41
34

833,930
313,827
5,969

799,618
286,858
2,736

Provisions for deferred tax liabilities

22

18,732

27,974

Provisions for risks and charges

35

360

294

Other non-current liabilities

36

901

0

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale or disposal
Total non-current liabilities

0

0

859,891

830,622

209,738
5,783
61,118
1,164
7,220
2,508
50,178
1,459
1,350

183,796
1,159
3,119

C) CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables and other payables
of which relative to related parties
Short-term debt
of which relative to related parties
Current portion of long-term debt
of which relative to related parties
Other current liabilities
of which relative to related parties
Taxes payable

37
41
32
41
39
41
40
41
38

Provisions for risks and charges

35

2,879
68,148
58,223
195

0

0

Total current liabilities

329,604

258,137

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

950,135

874,605
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(in Euro thousands)

12.31.2020 12.31.2019
Profit (loss) before income taxes

(39,447)

(2,207)

41,682
4,462
0
0
573
52,691

1,436
216
0
0
100
1,819

59,961

1,364

(2,320)
2,609
5,448
(54,593)
(179)

46,181
(441)
(1,361)
389
0

10,926

46,132

(24,998)
(6,314)
0
(609)
(1,278)

(423)
(70)
0
0
(500,000)

(33,199)

(500,493)

0
(410)
56,792
(3,219)
0
(31,337)

530,000
(25)
5,000
0
5,178
(16,293)

21,826

523,860

(447)

69,499

Liquidity at the start of the year

69,549

50

Liquidity at the end of the year

69,102

69,549

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses on current assets
Impairment losses on fixed assets
Impairment losses and reversals of investments
Allocations to provisions for personnel, other provisions and other non-monetary items
Finance (income)/expenses
Cash flows (uses) generated by current operations before
changes in net working capital
Change in trade receivables
Change in inventories
Change in trade payables
Change in other assets and liabilities
Taxes (paid)/collected
Cash flows (uses) generated by business operations
Increases(-)/Decreases (+) in intangible assets
Increases(-)/Decreases (+) in property, plant and equipment
Increases(-)/Decreases (+) in financial assets
Increases(-)/Decreases (+) in other assets
Acquisitions net of cash and cash equivalents acquired
Cash flows (uses) generated by investment activities
Repayment of medium-/long-term financial assets
Subscription of medium-/long-term financial assets
Raising of short-term loans
Repayment of leasing
Provision of cash and cash equivalents through contribution operations
Net one-off interest/fees paid
Cash flows (uses) generated by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in liquid funds in cash and at banks

3

4

64,000
(296,575)

(214,154)

(30,715)
8
5,501
-

(239,360)

-

0

(215)
5,501
-

5,286

64,000
(296,575)

(214,154)

0
(30,500)
8
0
0

(244,646)

-

(5,126)

5,126
(30,500)
0
0
-

(30,500)

(296,575)

(296,563)

(5,126)
8
-

(301,681)

61,000
-

77,485

-

77,485

-

0

-

0

3,000
-

10,050

-

-

10,050

Other movements (capital increase through contribution of shares by Banca 5 S.p.A. on 19 December 2019)

Profit/(Loss) of the Parent in the previous period

Comprehensive income (loss) for the period

Actuarial profit (loss) on defined benefits plans for employees

Other movements (acquisition of 51% Pluservice S.r.l.)

Equity at December 31, 2020

Distribution of equity to shareholders

Equity at December 31, 2019

Distribution of equity to shareholders

23,485
23,485

-

-

16,485

-

7,000

Other movements (capital increase through contribution of shares by shareholder Sisal Group S.p.A. on 19 December
2019)

-

(5,126)
-

-

18

-

(5,126)

-

Allocation of profit for the previous period (Ord. Shareholders’ Meeting of 4 May 2019)

(5,126)

-

-

-

-

Comprehensive income (loss) for the period
(18)

30
-

30

30

-

-

-

Payment by shareholder Sisal Group S.p.A. to cover losses from previous period

-

(18)
-

(18)

(18)

-

-

-

-

Profit/(Loss) of the Parent in the previous period

-

50
-

Total Equity

50

Non-controlling
interests

-

Total Equity
attributable to
Owners of the
Parent

-

Profit (Loss) for
the year

-

Other
reserves

-

Share
premium
reserve

50

Share capital Legal Reserve

Establishment of Parent Company - capital payment by shareholder Sisal Group S.p.A. (June 2018)

(in Euro thousands)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MOONEY GROUP
Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2020

1. General information
Mooney SisalPay Group S.p.A. (hereafter “Mooney Group”, the “Company” or the “Parent
Company”) is a company incorporated and based in Italy, with registered and administrative offices in
Milan, in Via Privata Nino Bonnet 6/A, organized under the laws of the Republic of Italy. The current
business name was adopted in April 2021, as the final step of the “re-branding” process initiated by the
Group in 2020; the Company was previously called SisalPay Group S.p.A.
The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) operate principally in the collection and
payment services sector, both in the segment of services requiring specific authorization of the Bank of
Italy, and in the segment of other non-supervised services such as primarily the marketing of top-ups
for telephone and TV content and mobility services related to public sector.
At the end of July 2019, the Sisal Group concluded an important strategic agreement with Banca 5
S.p.A. to combine their respective payment services through a corporate reorganization of the respective
businesses. As a result, starting from the operational closing of the complex operation on December 13,
2019, these businesses are managed by the two operational companies Mooney Servizi S.p.A. (formerly
SisalPay Servizi S.p.A.) and Mooney S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Pay S.p.A., an e-money institute subject to
supervision by the Bank of Italy), both 100%-owned by Mooney Group S.p.A.

During the year, the Group have closed an important strategic agreement by acquiring control (51%) of
the company Pluservice Srl, based in Senigallia, Ancona, operating in the public mobility sector together
with the subsidiary MyCicero Srl, in which the group held a share capital equal to 30%. Through the sale
agreement, the Group has guaranteed the right to purchase the remaining share capital by 2023 for a
price in line with the performance of the companies as mentioned above.

The Company is controlled by Sisal Group S.p.A. (formerly Sisal Holding Istituto di Pagamento S.p.A.),
which owns 70% of the shares comprising the Company’s share capital.
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The corporate purpose of Sisal Group S.p.A. includes the holding of equity investments and the
management of services and centralized contracts for the group. The registered office is located in Via
Privata Nino Bonnet, 6/A in Milan.
The minority shareholder that owns the remaining 30% of the shares comprising the share capital of the
Company is Banca 5 S.p.A, an Italian bank that provides banking services as well as collection and
payment services to resellers of products under Italian state monopoly, tobacconists. The company is
part of the Intesa Sanpaolo Group. The registered office is located in Via Bisceglie, 120 - 20152 Milan.

2. Summary of accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The designation “IFRS” also includes all valid International Accounting
Standards (“IAS”), as well as all interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee, formerly the
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and before that the Standing
Interpretations Committee (“SIC”), which, at the balance sheet date, have been adopted by the
European Union according to the procedure established by Regulation EC 1606/2002 of the European
Parliament and European Council on July 19, 2002.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Euro, which represents the
currency of the economic environment in which the Group operates. All amounts presented in the notes
are expressed in thousands of Euro, unless otherwise stated.
The format of the financial statements and the relative classification criteria adopted by the Group, within
the framework of the options provided by IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements are presented
below:
• the consolidated statement of financial position uses a format classifying the assets and
liabilities according to current and non-current;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, which classifies costs according to their
nature, includes, besides the profit or loss for the year, other non-owner changes in equity;
•

the consolidated statement of cash flows is prepared by recognizing cash flows from operating

activities according to the “indirect method”. The restricted bank deposits are excluded from the
cash flow statement, in compliance with the provisions for the protection of customer funds
envisaged by the PSD2 directive. The entry into force of Legislative Decree No. 218 of 15
December 2017 resulted in the implementation of Directive 205/2366 / EU relating to payment
services in the internal market in Italy, in particular the revised article 114-duodecies of the
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consolidated banking law extends the safeguards already in force for all funds received from
payment service users, including funds not registered in payment accounts.
•

the statement of changes in consolidated equity

The comparative figures for 2019 include the economic values for the Group as at December 13, 2019,
the statement of financial position and the statement of cash flows consolidated as at that date. Where
necessary, reclassifications of the comparative values were carried out for a more correct representation
of the equity, financial and economic position in compliance with the accounting standards adopted.

2.2 Going concern
The year 2020 closed with a loss of Euro 30,715 thousand. Consolidated equity at December 31, 2020
was a negative Euro 239,360 thousand and net working capital at the same date was a negative Euro
107,908 thousand.
The 2020 results were affected by net non-recurring and extraordinary expenses of about Euro 22.3
million, mainly relating to charges for company reorganization and acquisitions, as well as activities
related to the launch of new products carried out by the Group during the year.
With regard to working capital, it should be mentioned that the business of the Group is characterized
by a financial cycle in which the cash flows payable to the partners are taken up by the network in
advance of the relative obligation of payment. Therefore, the presence of a negative working capital
should be considered an ongoing phenomenon of the Group.
With reference to the debit position, the following table shows the Group’s structure, between capital
resources and debt to third parties, essentially in line with the structure set up at the end of the previous
year, when the Mooney Group was established.
The loans received, particularly the floating-rate bond, will expire in 2026.
At Decem ber 31
(in Euro thousands and as percentage of total debt and equity)
Long-term debt
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt

2020

2019

833,930

799,617

68,338

5,998

Funding from related parties

317,499

47.9%

286,858

48.5%

Funding from third parties

584,770

88.2%

518,757

87.7%

(239,360)

-36.1%

(214,154)

-36.2%

662,909

100.0%

591,461

100.0%

Equity
Total debt and equity

It must be noted that Loans from related parties include around Euro 109.5 million relating to loans to
the majority shareholder Sisal Group S.p.A. and around Euro 203.6 million relating to a loan obtained
from the minority shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A. as part of said operation, arising following the acquisition
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of the investments held by the two aforementioned shareholders in Mooney S.p.A and in Mooney Servizi
S.p.A. following the contribution of business segments to the latter.
With reference to the market context, in the current year, the addressable market as a whole reached
246 billion in turnover, showing a reduction of around 9% compared to 2019, due to the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic. The decline was mainly determined by the loss of premiums in the Traditional Retail
segment, which represents 73% of the total turnover, while the Proximity Retail and Digital channels, in
which the Group operates, have demonstrated resilience despite the health emergency, and are the
segments for which a growth trend is projected starting from the 2021 financial year.
On the basis of the assessments carried out with particular reference to the current and expected
profitability of the Group and to the plans for the repayment of debt, the directors therefore believe that
there is the reasonable expectation that the Group will continue its operating activities in the foreseeable
future and will be able to meet its financial commitments, and in any case for a period of time beyond
twelve months, and has therefore prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis.
Impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic

With the Prime Ministerial Decree of March 11, 2020, the Government implemented precautionary
measures to contain the spread of the virus, imposing the lock-down of all commercial activities not of
public utility, including bars and restaurants throughout the Italian territory. In this scenario, the Mooney
network was able to operate, starting from 12 March, and until 18 May, only through Tobacconists and
Newsstands, which make up approximately 70% of the entire network, as the remaining 30% is
represented by the Bar category. In the second half of the year, the relaxation of the restrictive measures
implemented by the Government allowed a partial recovery, however the situation did not return to
normal due to the business hours limitations that some product categories (Bar) also suffered during the
second half of the year.
In order to protect the health of its employees and ensure business continuity, the Group implemented
a “Disaster Recovery” plan, in just a few weeks, which enabled the activation of remote working on
100% of the company population as well as of commercial and technical activities to support the
business. In addition to the “Disaster Recovery” plan, the Mooney Group developed a CSR action plan
to support its personnel, the retail sales network and the community, as described previously.
In order to minimize the negative economic impacts due to the epidemic, a “Mitigation Plan” was also
implemented. In particular, in support of volumes and business, the Group expanded the distribution of
its prepaid card, guaranteed technical and commercial remote support to the network, and continued to
invest in media and marketing to support volumes.
Although the economic and financial results were negatively impacted by the epidemic, the business
proved resilient compared to other sectors, managing to grow in terms of revenues (net of remuneration
paid to distribution chains) by 7% (2020 vs. 2019 pro-forma).
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In particular, growth by quarter was + 4% (1st quarter), + 2% (2nd quarter) + 8% (3rd quarter), + 17%
(4th quarter).
The year 2019 has been reported on a pro-forma basis (as the Group was formed on 13 December
2019) and corresponds to the sum of the full-year economic results of the branches transferred to the
Mooney Group by the Sisal Group and by Banca 5 S.p.A.
2.3 Scope of consolidation and consolidation principles
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent and the financial
statements of its subsidiaries, approved by their relative boards. The companies included in the scope
of consolidation at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are reported as follows:
Companies included in the scope of consolidation
% Direct and Indirect
ownership at
December 31
Name

Headquarters

Share capital

2020

Mooney Group SpA (Parent Company)

Milan

€ 10,050,000

Mooney S.p.A.

Milan

€ 86,658,331

100.00%

Mooney Servizi S.p.A.

Milan

€ 8,549,999

100.00%

Pluservice S.r.l.

Senigallia (Ancona)

€ 450,000

51.00%

myCicero S.r.l.

Senigallia (Ancona)

€ 1,142,857

65.70%

Companies included in the scope of consolidation
% Direct and Indirect
ownership at
December 31
Name

Headquarters

Share capital

Mooney Group SpA (Parent Company)

Milan

€ 10,050,000

Mooney S.p.A.

Milan

€ 86,658,331

100.00%

Mooney Servizi S.p.A.

Milan

€ 8,549,999

100.00%

% Direct and Indirect
ownership at
December 31

ASSOCIATED ENTITIES
Name
myCicero S.r.l.

2019

Headquarters

Share capital

Senigallia (Ancona)

€ 1,142,857

2019
30.00%

Note that the following companies were included in the scope of consolidation in 2020:
Mooney Group S.p.A.: consolidating company, with registered office in Milan. The company, whose
share capital is 70% owned by Sisal Group S.p.A., with the remaining 30% owned by Banca 5 S.p.A.,
is a holding company for the investments in the entire share capital of Mooney S.p.A. and Mooney
Servizi S.p.A. and holds the bond used to finance the operation with a nominal value of Euro 530 million.
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Mooney S.p.A. (formerly SisalPay S.p.A.): company with registered office in Milan, 100% owned by the
company Mooney Group S.p.A. and accredited by the Bank of Italy as an Institute of Electronic Money.
Mooney Servizi S.p.A. (formerly SisalPay Servizi S.p.A.): a company with registered office in Milan,
100% owned by the Group through Mooney Group S.p.A., which operates in the marketing of top-ups
for telephone and TV content and other services not supervised by the Bank of Italy.
Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l.: companies have their registered office in Sinigallia. On July 31,
2020, the acquisition of 51% of the company Pluservice Srl by Mooney Servizi SpA was completed. The
acquired company holds 70% of the shares of myCicero Srl, of which Mooney Servizi SpA already held
the remaining 30%. Following the acquisition of Pluservice Srl, the Group also obtained indirect control
of myCicero S.r.l.
For additional details on the main changes in the scope of consolidation during the year under
examination, see Note 6, “Business combinations”.
Below is a brief description of the criteria used for the consolidation of subsidiaries and associates.
Subsidiaries
Based on the provisions of IFRS 10, control exists when the Parent holds, directly or indirectly, the
decision-making power over the subsidiary or has rights or liability with respect to variable returns
deriving from its relations with the entity concerned and, at the same time, is able to affect such returns
by exercising its power over that entity. The subsidiaries are consolidated using the line-by-line method
starting from the date that control commences until the date that control is transferred to a third party.
The closing date of all subsidiaries’ financial statements coincides with that of the Parent. The principles
adopted for line-by-line consolidation are as follows:
•

the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-

line basis, attributing to the non-controlling interests, where applicable, their share of equity and
profit or loss for the year, which is shown separately in equity and in the income statement;
•

the business combinations in which control is acquired are recorded as set out in IFRS 3 –

Business Combinations by applying the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition cost is
represented by the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities assumed and equity instruments
issued at the acquisition date. The identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date except for deferred tax assets and
liabilities, assets and liabilities for employee benefits, and assets held for sale which are recognized
on the basis of the relative accounting standards. The difference between the acquisition cost and
the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired, if positive, is recognized in intangible assets as
goodwill, or, if negative, after reviewing the fair value measurements of the assets and liabilities
acquired, is recognized directly in the income statement, as income. Transaction costs are recorded
in the income statement when incurred;
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•

the acquisition cost also includes contingent consideration measured at fair value at the control

acquisition date. Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in the income statement or the
statement of comprehensive income if the contingent consideration is a financial asset or liability. If
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, the original amount is not re-measured and when
extinguished is recorded directly in equity.
•

non-controlling interests in equity and in the profit (loss) are shown as separate items in the

financial statements. At the acquisition date, non-controlling interests can be measured at either the
acquisition date fair value or according to the proportionate share of the net identifiable assets of
the acquired entity. The choice in the measurement method for non-controlling interests is decided
on a transaction-by-transaction basis. If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group
re-measures any previously held interest in the acquired entity at acquisition date fair value and any
resultant gain or loss is recognized in the income statement as appropriate.
•

changes in non-controlling interests in a subsidiary which do not constitute an acquisition or a

loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. Therefore, for purchases subsequent to the
acquisition of control and the partial disposal of a subsidiary without loss of control, any positive or
negative difference between the purchase cost/sales price and the corresponding share of equity is
recognized directly in the equity attributable to owners of the Parent;
•

in the case of the partial disposal of a subsidiary resulting in the loss of control, the investment

retained is adjusted to fair value and the revaluation forms part of the gain or loss on the transaction;
•

significant gains and losses (including the related tax effects) resulting from transactions

between fully consolidated companies which have not yet been realized with third parties are
eliminated. Receivables and payables, costs and revenues, and finance income and expenses
between companies included in the consolidation are also eliminated, if significant.
Associates
Associates are those companies over which the Group exercises significant influence, which is
presumed to exist when the Group directly or indirectly holds a minimum of 20% of the voting rights that
can be exercised in the investee’s shareholders’ meeting. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method and are initially recorded at cost and, following the acquisition, adjusted to
reflect the changes in the Parent’s interest related to net assets of the investee. In particular:
•

the carrying amount of such investments is aligned to the adjusted equity, where necessary, to

reflect the application of IFRSs and includes the recognition of the higher/lower value attributed to
the assets and liabilities, and goodwill, if any, identified at the date of acquisition;
•

the Group’s share of the investee’s profit or loss is recorded starting from the date that significant

control commences until the date that control ceases. In the event in which, as a result of losses,
the investee measured using the method in question shows a negative equity, the carrying amount
of the investment is reduced to zero and any additional losses are provided for in specific provisions
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and a liability is recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations, or in any case is required to cover the losses. Changes in the equity of the investee,
accounted for using the equity method, unrelated to profit or loss are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income;
•

unrealized gains and losses between the Company/subsidiaries and the investee, accounted

for using the equity method including the distribution of dividends, are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investment in the investee.

2.4 Accounting Policies
A brief description is provided of the most significant accounting policies and principles used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition or production costs including directly chargeable
incidental expenses necessary to bring the asset to use. Cost comprises the finance expenses directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of the asset. Cost also includes the expected
costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring it to its original condition if a contractual
obligation exists.
The expenses incurred for ordinary and/or cyclical maintenance and repairs are charged directly to the
income statement in the year incurred. The capitalization of costs inherent in the expansion,
modernization or improvement of the structural elements owned or used by third parties is made solely
to the extent that they meet the conditions for being classified separately as an asset or part of an asset
under the component approach method.
The 2017 Budget Law introduced in Italy, starting from 2018, the possibility for taxpayers established in
the territory of Italy to become a single taxpayer for VAT purposes, by virtue of an option exercised by
such parties. The Decree of the Ministry of Economy and Finance of April 6, 2018 implemented that law
which, in turn, had transposed into Italian law the European Group VAT rules. The Sisal Group applied
this new concept already starting in 2019. This concept overcomes the pre-existing distinctions within
the group between companies that exercised the option to dispense with obligations for transactions
exempted under art. 36 bis of Presidential Decree 633/72 and companies using the pro-rata regime. As
a result, non-recoverable VAT, determined under the new Group VAT regime, supplements the
acquisition cost of an asset at the time of its capitalization on a provisional group pro-rata basis and, if
necessary, is adjusted at year end in relation to the definitive determination of the pro-rata amount for
the year.
The above assets are depreciated systematically each year on a straight-line basis at economic and
technical rates calculated according to the assets’ estimated useful lives. When the depreciable asset
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is composed of distinctly identifiable elements, the useful life of which differs significantly from that of
the other parts which compose the asset, depreciation is taken separately for each of the parts which
make up the asset under the component approach principle.
The estimated useful life by class of property, plant and equipment is as follows:
Class of property, plant and equipment
Buildings
Plant
Equipment
Other assets:
- vehicles
- furniture and fixtures
- electronic office equipment

Leasehold improvements
Note: regarding the average term of IFRS 16 contract see paragraph “Lease liabilities”

Useful life in years
33
3-10
5-8
4-5
3-8
5
the shorter of the estimated
useful life of the asset and the
term of the lease contract

Depreciation starts when the asset is ready for use, taking into account the time at which such condition
actually arises.
Leased assets
A lease is a contract or part of a contract that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.
The rights of use of leased assets and the lease liabilities represent, respectively, an asset representing
the right of use of the Company of the asset owned by third parties and a liability that represents the
obligation to make the payments set out in the contract. Both items are recognized in the financial
statements starting on the date that the asset is made available for use by the Company, up to the most
recent date between the end of the useful life of the right of use and the lease term. Nonetheless, where
the lease transfers ownership of the leased asset to the lessee at the end of the lease term or if the
value of the right-of-use asset also considers the fact that the lessee will exercise the purchase option,
the right of use is systematically depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.
The Group defined the lease term as the period of the contract that cannot be cancelled, also considering
the periods covered by an option to extend the lease, if the Company is reasonably certain it will exercise
that option. In particular, in assessing the reasonable certainty that the renewal option will be exercised,
the Group considered all the relevant factors that create an economic incentive to exercise the renewal
option.
The lease liability is recognized initially at an amount equal to the present value of the lease payments
due and not yet paid at the commencement date, including fixed payments net of any lease incentives
to be received, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, the estimate of the payment
by the lessee as a guarantee of the residual value, payment of the purchase option exercise price, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise it, and payment of contractual penalties for termination of the
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lease, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option. The present value of future payments
is calculated adopting a discount rate equal to the interest rate implicit in the lease or, where this cannot
be easily determined, using the incremental borrowing rate of the Company. Following initial recognition,
the carrying amount of the lease liability increases due to the interest allocated during each period and
decreases following payments made. This is also restated, as a contra-entry to the carrying amount of
the related asset, where there is a change in the lease payments due as a result of contractual
renegotiations, changes to indexes or rates, or changes in the assessment of whether the options set
out in the contract will be exercised, including the option to extend the contract. The interest component
is recognized as a finance expense over the entire lease term and is determined based on the effective
interest method. The right of use is initially recognized at cost, determined at a value equal to the initial
amount of the lease liability, adding to this the direct costs initially incurred by the lessee, any payments
made at or before the commencement date, net of any incentives received from the lessor, direct costs
incurred and the estimate of the costs expected to be incurred for dismantling. The right of use is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter period of the estimated useful life of the asset and
the term of the underlying lease contract. The Group applies the requirements for the impairment of the
right-of-use assets set out in IAS 36, “Impairment of Assets”.
The Group applies the practical exemption permitted for short-term leases and for low-value leases,
recognizing the payments relating to those types of leases in the income statement as operating costs
over the term of the lease contract.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets which are without physical substance, identifiable,
controllable and have the capacity to produce future economic benefits. Such assets are initially
recognized at purchase and/or construction cost, including directly attributable expenses to prepare the
asset for use. Interest expenses, if any, during and for the development of intangible assets are
considered part of the acquisition cost. In particular, the following intangible assets can be identified in
the Group:
(a) Goodwill
In brief, goodwill represents the set of future economic benefits deriving from assets acquired in a
business combination which cannot be individually identified and recognized separately. It is measured
as the excess of the amount of the consideration transferred measured at fair value and the value of
non-controlling interests, compared to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, net of potential
liabilities assumed, at the acquisition date.
Any negative difference (badwill) is, instead, immediately recognized in the income statement at the
time of acquisition, as income from the transaction concluded.
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Goodwill deriving from business combinations is not amortized but is subject to periodic tests to identify
any impairment, in accordance with that described in the paragraph “Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets” below.
In order to verify the presence of impairment, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is
allocated, from the acquisition date to the single-cash generating units or to the groups of cashgenerating units that should benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets and liabilities of the acquired company are assigned to those units or groups of units. Those tests
are conducted at least annually.
No other intangible assets with indefinite useful life are recognized in the financial statements in addition
to goodwill.
(b) Other intangible assets with a finite useful life
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are recognized at cost, as described previously, net of
accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. Amortization starts when the asset is available
for use and is charged systematically over the residual period of benefit, that is, over the estimated
useful life. The estimated useful life for the various classes of intangible assets is as follows:
Class of intangible asset
Patent rights and intellectual property
Software user licenses
Retail network and services contract network
Brand

Useful life in years
3-8
3
20
20

The costs relating to the development of new products and sales channels, particularly with reference
to software (for example, the website software used to manage online payment services), are also
capitalized. In accordance with IFRS, such costs are capitalized since it is believed that the estimated
future economic benefits linked to the turnover from services, also online, is able to sustain the amount
capitalized.

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(a) Goodwill
As mentioned previously, goodwill is subject to an Impairment Test annually or more frequently
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill may be impaired.
Impairment testing is conducted on the goodwill allocated to each Cash-Generating Unit (“CGU”)
monitored by management. An impairment loss on goodwill is recognized when the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated is
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, intended as the present value of future
cash flows estimated for the asset in question. In calculating the value in use, the estimated future cash
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flows are discounted to present value using a discount rate before taxes that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money, proportionate to the investment period, and the risks specific
to the asset. If the impairment loss is higher than the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU,
the excess is applied to the other assets of the CGU in proportion to their carrying amount.
The carrying amount of an asset should not be reduced below the highest of:
•

the fair value of the asset less costs to sell;

•

the value in use, as defined above;

•

zero.

The reversal of a previous goodwill impairment loss is not permitted.
(b) Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets with a finite useful life
At every closing date, the Group assesses whether there are any indications of impairment of property,
plant and equipment, and intangible assets. Both internal and external sources of information are used
for this purpose. Internal sources include obsolescence or physical damage, and significant changes in
the use of the asset and the economic performance of the asset compared to estimated performance.
External sources include the market value of the asset, changes in technology, markets or laws, trend
in market interest rates and the cost of capital used to evaluate investments.
When indicators of impairment exist, the carrying amount of the assets is reduced to the recoverable
amount and any impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. The recoverable amount of an
asset is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, the latter being the present value
of future cash flows estimated for the asset in question. In calculating the value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to present value using a discount rate before taxes that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money, proportionate to the investment period, and the risks
specific to the asset. For assets that do not generate largely independent cash flows, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
If the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment loss
is recognized in the income statement. The impairment loss is first recognized as a deduction of the
carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit and then only applied to the other
assets of the cash generating unit in proportion to their carrying amount, up to the recoverable amount
of the assets with a finite useful life. When the conditions that gave rise to an impairment loss no longer
exist, the carrying amount of the asset is re-recognized in the income statement, up to the carrying
amount that would have been recorded had no impairment loss been recognized and if normal
amortization/depreciation been applied.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Trade receivables and other financial assets are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Trade receivables and other financial
assets are included in current assets, except for those with a contractual due date beyond twelve months
after the date of the financial statements, which are classified as non-current assets.
Impairment losses on receivables are recognized in the financial statements according to the expected
credit loss method, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9. In particular, the impairment on trade
receivables and on contract assets is carried out through the simplified approach, which provides for
estimating the expected loss throughout the life of the receivable at the time of the initial recognition and
in the subsequent valuations. For each customer segment, the estimate is carried out mainly through
the determination of the average expected non-collectability, based on historical-statistical indicators,
which may be adjusted using prospective elements. For some categories of receivables characterized
by peculiar risk elements, instead, specific valuations are carried out on the individual credit positions.
If in subsequent periods the reasons for the impairment cease to exist, the asset value is reinstated up
to the amount that would have been recognized had amortized cost been applied.
Financial assets, relating to non-derivative financial instruments, with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity dates, which the Company intends and has the ability to hold until maturity, are
classified as “hold to collect” assets.
Such assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, adjusted by impairment
losses, if any. Whenever there are impairment losses, the same principles as described above for loans
and receivables are applied.
Other financial assets, including investments in other companies, classified as “hold to collect and sell”
assets are measured at fair value, if determinable, and profits and losses deriving from changes in fair
value are attributed directly to other components of comprehensive income until they are disposed of or
impaired. At that point, the other components of comprehensive income previously recognized in equity
are attributed to the income statement for the period. Dividends received by investments in other
companies are included under the item financial income.
INVENTORIES
Inventories of rolls of paper for terminals are stated at the purchase cost, using the weighted average
cost method.
The inventories of virtual and scratch top-up cards for telephone and television content are stated at the
weighted average cost of the purchase prices.
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Restricted bank deposits deriving from funds received from customers in compliance with the directive
known as PSD2, as part of the services rendered by Mooney S.p.A. as an e-money institution, are
reported separately under cash and cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and available bank deposits and other forms of short-term
investments, with original due dates equal to or less than three months. Cash and cash equivalents are
recorded, according to their nature, at their nominal amount or at amortized cost.
DEBT AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt and other financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value, net of directly attributable incidental
expenses, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. If there is
a change in the estimate of expected cash flows, the value of the liabilities is re-measured to account
for this change on the basis of the present value of the new cash flows expected and the effective
interest rate determined initially. Financial liabilities are classified within current liabilities, except those
with contractual maturities due beyond twelve months of the reporting date and those for which the
Group has an unconditional right to defer payment for at least twelve months after that date.
Financial liabilities are recognized at the transaction date and are derecognized when paid and when
the Group has transferred all the risks and expenses related to the instruments.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term benefits are represented by salaries and wages, social security contributions, indemnities in
lieu of holidays and incentives in the form of bonuses payable in the twelve months subsequent to the
date of the financial statements. Such benefits are recognized as components of personnel costs in the
period in which their services are rendered.
Post-employment benefits are divided into two categories: defined contribution plans and defined benefit
plans.
In defined contribution plans, contributory costs are charged to the income statement as they occur,
based on the relative nominal value.
In defined benefit plans, which include severance indemnities due to employees regulated by art. 2120
of the Italian Civil Code, the amount of the benefit to be paid is quantifiable only after termination of
employment, and associated with one or more factors such as age, the years of service and
compensation. Therefore, the relative cost is charged to the statement of comprehensive income based
on actuarial computations. The liability recorded in the financial statements for defined benefit plans
corresponds to the present value of the obligation at the reporting date. The obligations for defined
benefit plans are determined annually by an independent actuary using the projected unit credit method.
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The present value of defined benefit plans is determined by discounting future cash flows at an interest
rate equal to high-quality corporate bonds issued in Euro which take into account the period of the
relative pension plan.
Starting from January 1, 2007, the Finance Law 2007 and the relative implementing decrees introduced
amendments concerning employee severance indemnities. The amendments include the decision of
employees as to the allocation of their accruing indemnities. In particular, new flows of employee
severance indemnities can be directed by the employee either to pre-chosen pension funds or retained
in the company. In the case of external pension funds, the payment of the defined contribution will be
made to the fund and starting from such date the new amounts accrued have the nature of defined
contribution funds not subject to actuarial measurement.
Starting from January 1, 2013, following the adoption of IAS 19 – Employee Benefits, changes in
actuarial gains and losses are recognized in other statement of comprehensive income items.
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
Provisions for risks and charges are set up to cover losses or liabilities whose existence is certain or
probable but which at the end of the reporting period are uncertain as to amount or as to the date on
which they will arise. Provisions are recognized only when there is a current obligation (legal or
constructive) for a future outflow of resources deriving from a past event and it is probable that the
outflow will be necessary to fulfil the obligation. This amount represents the best estimate of the present
value of expenditures required to settle the obligation. If the effect of the time value is material, and the
payment date of the obligations can be reasonably estimated, provisions to be accrued are the present
value of the expected cash flows, using a rate which reflects market conditions, the change in the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the cost of
money over time is recognized as interest expense.
RECOGNITION OF REVENUES
The method for recognizing revenues, based on standard IFRS 15, is divided into five steps:
▪ the identification of the contract with the customer: the standard's provisions are applicable to each
individual contract, except in the cases where the standard itself requires the entity to consider several
contracts jointly and consequently provides for their relative recognition;
▪ the identification of the separate performance obligations, or contractual promises to transfer goods
and/or services contained in the contract;
▪ the determination of the transaction price. In case of variable compensation, this must be estimated
by the entity to the extent in which it is highly probable that when the uncertainty associated with the
variable compensation is subsequently resolved it does not cause a significant downward adjustment
of the amount of cumulative revenues recognized;
▪ the allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance obligations identified, on the basis
of the relative stand-alone sale price of each product or service;
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▪ the recognition of revenue at the time and/or to the extent in which the relative separate performance
obligation is satisfied.
Revenues are recognized initially at the fair value of the consideration received.
Any variable components of the fees, relating year-end adjustments and variable incentives, are
included in the fee if they can be reliably determined and if it is reasonably certain that this component
will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The asset is transferred when, or during the period in which, the customer obtains control of it.
The service is transferred to the customer and therefore the revenues can be recognized.:
- at a precise moment, when the entity fulfills the obligation to do by transferring the promised good or
service to the customer, or
- over time, as the entity fulfills its obligation by transferring the promised good or service to the customer.
In particular:
- commission income from points of sale, circuits or digital platforms are recognized in the income
statement on an accruals basis, based on the trading date of the expenses incurred by end customers;
- revenues connected with recurring services are distributed on a straight-line basis over the duration of
the contracts to which they refer.
- The revenues accrued by the Company in the resale of telephone top-ups and television content are
recognized in an amount equal to the difference between the sale price and the nominal cost of the
cards. The cost relating to the purchase of the same is therefore recognized as an adjustment to the
gross revenue recorded, operating the Company as an "agent":
- revenues for activities related to development projects specifically requested by customers, are
recognized during the development activity (over time) if the following requirements are met:
a. the customer simultaneously receives and uses the benefits deriving from the performance along the
provision of the service;
b. the service is performed on activities under the control of the customer;
c. the activity object of the service has no alternative uses and the Group has the right to be remunerated
for the work carried out up to that moment;
otherwise, the costs and revenues of the project are suspended and recognized at the end of the design
phase.
In the case of contracts in which different separate performance obligations are identified, transaction
prices are allocated to the identified performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone
sales prices of each good or service included in the contract.
COST OF GOODS PURCHASED AND SERVICES PERFORMED
Purchases of goods and the performance of services are recognized in the income statement on an
accrual basis. Non-deductible VAT, calculated on the basis of the pro-rata coefficient, is similar to a
general cost and recognized in other operating costs, when it relates to the purchase of goods and
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services classified under cost items, while it is recognized as an increase in the asset in the event of
purchases relating to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.
INCOME TAXES
Income taxes are allocated on the basis of an estimate of the tax expense for the year according to
current laws. The corresponding liability is shown under “Taxes payable”.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on the temporary differences between the carrying
amount of an asset or a liability in the financial statements and its tax base, except for first-time
recognition of goodwill and for those differences related to investments in associates when the reversal
of such differences is under the control of the Group and it is probable that they will not reverse in the
reasonably foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same tax authority,
there is a legally enforceable right of offset and settlement of the net balance is expected. If the net
amount is an asset it is shown as “deferred tax assets” and if a liability as “deferred tax liabilities”. When
the effects of a transaction are credited or charged directly to equity, the related current and deferred
taxes are also recognized directly in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed based on tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the asset is recovered or settled to the extent that such rates have been approved at the
date of the financial statements.
Expenses, if any, in connection with litigation with the tax authorities for the portion relating to the evasion
of taxes and the corresponding penalties is recorded in “income taxes”.
2.5 Adoption of the new standards
In drawing up the 2020 Consolidated Financial Statements, the accounting standards, valuation criteria
and consolidation criteria applied are consistent with those used for the 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements, except for what is mentioned below.
The description and impacts of the standards and interpretations applicable from January 1, 2020 are
provided below.

PRINCIPLES, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS APPLICABLE FROM JANUARY 1, 2020
On May 28, 2020, the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued an amendment to the
IFRS 16 Leases standard to facilitate lessors in their accounting of lease incentives (e.g. suspension of
lease payments or temporary reduction of the same) resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic.
The accounting standard IFRS 16 already provides how lessees must take into account changes in the
payments of lease contracts, including incentives. In particular, to define the methods of accounting for
changes in the payments of lease contracts - including incentives - IFRS 16 requires the assessment of
individual contracts in order to determine whether the incentives are to be considered as amendments
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to the contract. In this case, the lessee must recalculate the liability relating to the lease (and
consequently the Right of Use), using a revised discount rate. IFRS 16 defines an amendment to the
lease as a change in the object or the consideration of the lease not covered by the original contractual
conditions.
However, the application of these methods to a potentially high volume of incentives related to leases
and related to Covid-19 could have been complicated in practice, especially in light of the numerous
challenges that companies are already facing during the pandemic.
The amendment exempts lessees from assessing whether the incentives granted as a result of the
Covid-19 pandemic are changes to the contract, thus allowing them to account for these incentives as
if they were not changes and therefore to immediately post in the income statement.
The amendment does not apply to lessors and applies only to incentives relating to leases that occur as
a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic and only if all the following conditions are met:

-

the amendment involves payments substantially equal to or lower than the payments scheduled
before the amendment;

-

any reduction in lease payments only affects payments by June 30, 2021 and does not extend
to subsequent periods;

-

there are no significant changes to other contractual terms and conditions.

The adoption of these amendments is applicable starting from the financial years after 30 June 2020.
However, the Mooney Group based on the evaluation made on this potential adoption, decided not to
make use of the aforementioned measure, also in consideration of the case in point of the business
managed by the Group.

The following is a list of the other new standards, interpretations and amendments that have mandatory
application from January 1, 2020 and that have not had any significant effects on the consolidated
financial statements as at December 31, 2020:

-

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of business”;

-

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: "Definition of material";

-

Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9 and IAS 39 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform”

-
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2.6 Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations not yet applicable and not adopted
in advance by the Group
As at the date of preparation of this document, the following new Standards, Amendments and
Interpretations were issued and have not yet entered into force:

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations

Mandatory
application from

Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts”;
Changes to the amendment to IFRS 16 “Leases”: Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions

January 1, 2021

Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”

January 1, 2022

Amendments to IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”

January 1, 2022

Amendments to IAS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets"

January 1, 2022

Changes "Annual Improvements 2018-2020"

January 1, 2022

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS
Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies

January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 "Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accouting Estimates"

January 1, 2023

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”; including "Amendments to IFRS 17"

January 1, 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 "Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current"

January 1, 2023

April 1, 2021

3. Management of financial risks
The Group is exposed to: market risk – defined as foreign exchange rate, interest rate and bookmaker
risk – liquidity risk, credit risk and capital risk.
The risk management strategy of the Group focuses on minimizing the potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. As far as considered necessary, certain types of risk are mitigated by
using derivative instruments. Risk management is centralized in the Finance function which identifies,
assesses, and hedges financial risks, in close cooperation with the operating units of the Group. The
Finance function provides guidelines for monitoring risk management, just as it provides guidelines for
specific areas such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk and the use of derivative and nonderivative instruments.
No significant impacts have been identified with reference to the Covid-19 pandemic , in relation to the
financial risks to which the Group is exposed, therefore the executives’ managers did not consider it
appropriate to adopt significant changes to the management, risk control and risk assessment
systems.
On the other hand, effective plans were implemented in order to guarantee operational continuity and
ensure the normal operation of the business, guaranteeing the health and safety of employees and the
highest level of service for customers.
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For more details see what is reported below.
MARKET RISK
Foreign exchange rate risk
The Group is mainly active on the Italian market and is therefore exposed to exchange rate risk to a
limited extent.
Interest rate risk
The Group is theoretically exposed to risks linked to fluctuations in interest rates in relation to the shortterm revolving credit line and the FRN medium-term bond, even though the Euribor benchmark index is
considered nil because it is below zero.
In particular, the Group normally looks for short-term debt to finance its working capital requirements
and for medium- and long-term financing to support investments related to its operations and
extraordinary transactions. The financial liabilities which expose the Group to interest rate risk are mainly
medium- and long-term loans index-linked to floating rates of interest. Specifically, on the basis of the
analysis of the Group’s indebtedness, approximately 64% of the debt at December 31, 2019 is at floating
rates.
See Note 34 for additional details.
Concerning interest rate risk, a sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the effects on income
statement and equity of hypothetical positive and negative 100 bps variations to current effective interest
rates.
The analysis performed related mainly to the following:
• cash and cash equivalents, excluding restricted cash deposits and the settlement of debts to
Service partner;
• short-term and medium- and long-term debt, including the related derivative financial
instruments, where existing.
Regarding cash and cash equivalents, reference was made to the average balance and the average
interest rate thereon for the year, while for short-term and medium- and long-term debt the effect was
calculated at the reporting date of the consolidated financial statements. This analysis also included
financial payables contracted at fixed rates, as they represent a hedge of interest rate risk even though
they are not affected by it, for Euro 313,159 thousand in 2020, while no tax impact was considered.
It was not required, for the analysis purposes, to evaluate the negative effect -1% since the item of
interest income is irrelevant at the end of year and the item of interest expense on the Bond and on the
ssRCF takes into account the CAP of fixed interest below which it cannot contractually be reduced.
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2020
Income Statement
At December 31, 2020

Equity

1%

-1%

1%

-1%

profit / (loss)

profit /
(loss)

profit /
(loss)

profit / (loss)

Net financial debt

(833,166)

(2,730)

0

(2,730)

0

Total

(833,166)

(2,730)

0

(2,730)

0

2019

Net financial debt
Total

Income Statement
At December 31, 2019
-1%
+1%
profit /
profit / (loss)
(loss)
(736,066)
(124)
0
(736,066)

(124)

Equity
+1%
profit /
-1%
(loss)
profit / (loss)
(124)
0

0

(124)

0

LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to fulfil present or future obligations owing to insufficient
available funds. The Group manages this risk by seeking to establish a balance between outflows of
cash and the sources of short-term and long-term debt and the distribution of maturities of medium- and
long-term debt over time. In particular, a prudent management of liquidity risk implies maintaining a
sufficient level of cash and the availability of funds obtainable through an adequate amount of lines of
credit.
At December 31, 2020 credit facilities agreed and used of Euro 61.5 million were in place, attributable
to revolving credit facilities.
Set out below are the cash flows expected in future years for the repayment of financial liabilities
subdivided by repayment date at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
2020
Financial Liabilities Disbursements Analysis

(in Euro/000)

At December
31, 2020

Up to three
months

More than
three
months - up
to one year

More than
one year up to five
years
9,584

More than
five years

Bank debts and payables to other lenders

902,268

64,170

6,346

Trade payables

209,740

177,753

31,986

49,324

33,563

12,082

3,679

-

1,161,332

275,486

50,414

13,263

843,394

other payables
Total

843,394
-

-
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(in Euro thousands)
Bank debt and payables to other lenders
Trade payables
Other payables
Total

At
December
31, 2019
805,615
183,796
68,147
1,057,559

2019
Financial Liabilities Disbursements Analysis
More than
More than
Up to three
three
More than
one year to
months
months to
five years
five years
one year
6,946
1,671
4,450
816,858
171,602
12,194
63,997
4,151
242,544

18,016

4,450

816,858

The flows indicated for loans refer exclusively to the repayments of principal. Actual disbursements will
be increased by the finance expenses based on the rates applicable to the various loans as summarized
in Note 34.
Further, the tables do not include the payments associated with taxes payable which will be paid to the
tax authorities at due dates established by existing laws or provisions for risks and charges.
During the year, the Group complied with all the clauses stated in the existing loan agreements.
No critical elements have been identified on the Group's liquidity risk, with specific reference to the
impacts deriving from the Covid-19 pandemic, as the level of available liquidity is adequate to meet the
Group's financial needs and investment plans. It should also be noted that the Group has a credit line
with credit institutions (Revolving Credit Facility) not used at the balance sheet date for an amount equal
to Euro 31 million.
CREDIT RISK
Potential credit risk in commercial relations existing mainly with the points of sale, under partnership
contracts, is mitigated by specific selection procedures for points of sale, by imposing operating limits
on the collections through terminals and by daily controls over changes in credit which provide for the
blocking of the terminal in the event of non-payment and the revocation of the authorization to operate
as a Mooney outlet in the event of recurrent non-payment.
The amount of financial assets that the Group does not expect to collect is covered by the provisions
for the impairment of receivables.
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Current trade receivables at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are analyzed by macro-class of
homogeneous risk in the following table:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

2019

Receivables from points of sale (outlets)

22,800

14,344

Other receivables

23,912

9,984

(10,148)

(5,207)

36,564

19,121

Provision for impairment of receivables
Total

•

Receivables from points of sale (outlets) essentially represent amounts due from payments and

other services referring to the last few days of the year and the relative receivables arising from the
automated weekly collections of the preceding periods that have gone unpaid. The large number of
outlets exposes the Group to a partial uncollectability risk which, following suitable evaluation by the
directors, has duly been covered by a specific provision for impairment of trade receivables.
•

Other receivables include receivables from suppliers of services for distribution fees,

receivables from third-party customers for integrated digital solutions to transport companies and
mobility services, insurance receivables, receivables from employees and other receivables not
included in the previous classes. The Group does not have significant risk profiles for this credit
category. They develop integrated digital solutions for transport companies.
Intercompany receivables, receivables due from the Sisal Group and tax receivables have been
excluded from this analysis as no significant risk profile is believed to exist.
Risk exposure
Exposure to credit risk at December 31, 2020 and 2019, analyzed by reference to the aging of
receivables, is as follows:
Aging of Receivables
At December 31, 2020

past due up to
90 days

Current

(in Euro/000)
Trade receivables

33,607

Provision for impairment of
receivables

(5,156)

Net value

28,451

Other receivables

13,104

Provision for impairment of
receivables

(4,992)

Net value
Total

24,334

past due 90180 days

3,746

past due more
than 180 days

1,501

4,027

-

(1,840)

(508)

(2,808)

24,334

1,905

993

1,220

702

5,144

6,565
-

694
-

-

(4,992)

8,112

6,565

694

702

152

36,564

30,898

2,599

1,694

1,372
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Aging of Receivables
At December 31,
2019

past due up to
90 days

current

past due 90180 days

past due more
than 180 days

(in Euro thousands)
Trade receivables
Provision for impairment of
receivables

17,048

15,393

1,497

158

0

(215)

-

(215)

-

-

Net value

16,833

15,393

1,282

158

0

7,279

2,287

-

-

4,992

(4,992)

-

-

-

(4,992)

2,287

2,287

-

-

-

19,121

17,681

1,282

158

0

Other receivables
Provision for impairment of
receivables
Net value
Total

Past-due trade receivables not covered by provisions represent balances on which the Group believes
an insignificant risk of uncollectability to exist. As already mentioned, the Group monitors credit risk
mainly existing with the outlets through specific procedures for selecting points of sale, by assigning
operating limits for wagers on the terminal and by daily control over changes in credit which provides for
the blocking of the terminal in the event of non-payment and the revocation of the authorization to
operate as a Mooney outlet in the event of recurrent non-payment.
With reference to the impacts deriving from the Covid-19 pandemic, at the balance sheet date, even in
a context of significant economic uncertainty, which also led to situations of recovery of potentially critical
credit items, with reference to the impacts deriving from the Covid-19 pandemic, the management
considers the impacts on risk to be contained credit of the events deriving from the pandemic, also by
quality of risk management policies, monitoring activities and remedial actions implemented by the
Group.
CAPITAL RISK
The objective of the Group in the management of capital risk is principally that of guaranteeing returns
to the shareholders and ensuring benefits to the other stakeholders while protecting going concern.
The size of the debt of the Group, deriving from the extraordinary operation described above, was
decided on the basis of the assessment of the Group’s capacity to generate a steady profit and financial
flows sufficient to repay the debt and settle the related expenses but also provide cash flows from
operating and investing activities for the development of the business.
Moreover, in the presence of investment opportunities aimed at increasing the value and the stability of
the Group, characteristics of its shareholders, which, in turn, are connected with operators of absolute
international importance in the financial markets, enable the Company and the Group to take advantage
of such opportunities through recourse to risk capital.
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CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Financial assets and liabilities by category at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in the
following table:
At December 31, 2020
Loans and
receivables
(in Euro thousands)

Financial
assets or
liabilities at
fair value

Investments
held to
maturity

Total
financial
assets or
liabilities

Nonfinancial
assets
and
liabilities

TOTAL

Current financial assets

-

Trade receivables

76,610

76,610

Other assets (current and non-current)

13,515

13,515

Restricted bank deposits

61,142

61,142

61,142

Cash and cash equivalents

69,103

69,103

69,103

Total assets

220,371

220,371

Debt (current and non-current)

902,269

902,269

902,269

Trade payables and other payables

209,738

209,738

209,738

49,024

49,024

1,161,031

1,161,031

Other liabilities (current and non-current)
Total liabilities

76,610
495

495

2,054

14,010

220,865

51,078

2,054 1,163,085

At December 31, 2019

Loans and
receivables
Investments
held to maturity

(in Euro thousands)

Financial
assets or
liabilities
at fair
value

Total
financial
assets or
liabilities

Nonfinancial
assets
and
liabilities

TOTAL

Current financial assets
Trade receivables

72,686

72,686

4,331

4,331

Restricted bank deposits

17,192

17,192

17,192

Cash and cash equivalents

69,549

69,549

69,549

Total assets

163,758

163,758

Debt (current and non-current)

805,616

805,616

805,616

Trade payables and other payables

183,796

183,796

183,796

68,036

68,036

112

68,148

1,057,448

1,057,448

112

1,057,560

Other assets (current and non-current)

Other liabilities (current and non-current)
Total liabilities

72,686
157

157

4,488

163,915

During the years under review, the Group did not reclassify any financial assets among the various
categories.
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For short-term trade receivables and payables and other receivables and payables, the carrying amount
is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value. At December 31, 2020, the market price
of the senior secured notes (level 1 in the fair value hierarchy) was a total of approximately Euro 531.3
million compared to a nominal value of Euro 530 million.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The fair value of financial instruments listed in an active market is based on the market prices at the
reporting date. The fair value of instruments not listed in an active market is determined using valuation
techniques based on a series of methods and assumptions connected with market conditions at the
reporting date.
The classification of financial instruments based on a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs
in the determination of fair value is the following:
•

Level 1: Fair value based on inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) on active markets for

identical financial instruments;
•

Level 2: Fair value based on measurement methods referring to variables observable on active

markets;
•

Level 3: Fair value based on measurement techniques referring to unobservable market

variables.
There were no assets and liabilities that are measured using the fair value method at December 31,
2020 and 2019.
4. Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that management apply accounting
standards and methods which, under certain circumstances, are based on difficult subjective
measurements and estimates based on past experience and on assumptions considered, at various
times, to be reasonable and realistic in terms of the respective circumstances. The use of such estimates
and assumptions affects the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements (the statement
of financial position, the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of cash flows) and also
disclosure. Actual results for those areas requiring management judgement or estimates may differ from
those recorded in the financial statements due to the occurrence of events and the uncertainties which
characterize the assumptions and conditions on which the estimates are based.
The areas that require greater subjectivity of management in making estimates and for which a change
in the conditions of the underlying assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements
are briefly described below.
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Goodwill
In accordance with its adopted accounting policies and procedures for impairment, the Group tests
goodwill at least annually if there is any indication that the goodwill may be impaired. The recoverable
amount is determined on the basis of the calculation of the value in use. This calculation requires the
use of estimates that depend on factors which may vary over time and influence the assessments made
by the directors. Further information on the impairment test is disclosed in Note 22.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, and amortization of intangible assets
The cost of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is depreciated/amortized on a straightline basis over the estimated useful life of each asset. The economic useful life of these assets is
determined at the time of purchase, based on historical experience for similar assets, market conditions
and expected future events which may affect them, such as technological changes. The effective
economic useful life may, therefore, be different from its estimated useful life. Each year the Company
assesses the technological and business segment developments, any contractual and legislative
changes related to utilization of the assets and their recovery values are reviewed in order to update the
residual useful life. Such updating may modify the depreciation/amortization period and consequently
the annual rate and charge for current and future periods.
Impairment loss/reversal of fixed assets
Non-current assets are periodically tested for impairment and where indicators of difficulty in recovery
are present an impairment loss is recorded as a deduction from the relative net carrying amount. The
existence of such indicators can be verified through subjective valuations, based on information
available within the Group or externally and on historical experience. Moreover, in the presence of a
potential impairment, this is determined by suitable impairment tests. The correct identification of the
factors, indicating a potential impairment and the estimates to determine the loss, may depend on
conditions which vary over time, affecting the assessments and estimates. Similar considerations
regarding the existence of indicators and the use of estimates in the application of valuation techniques
can be found in the valuations to be made in the event of the reversal of impairment losses charged in
previous periods.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recorded on the basis of expectations of future taxable income. The assessment
of expected future taxable income for the purpose of recognizing deferred tax assets depends on factors
which may vary over time and may have significant effects on the measurement of this item.
Provisions for risks and tax uncertainties
The Group accrues in these provisions the probable liabilities relating to litigation and controversies with
staff, suppliers and third parties, tax disputes and, in general, expenses arising from obligations
undertaken. The quantification of such allocations involves assumptions and estimates based on
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presently available knowledge of factors which may vary over time. Thus, the final outcomes may be
significantly different from those considered during the preparation of the financial statements.
Provision for impairment of receivables
Impairment losses on receivables are recognized in the financial statements according to the expected
credit loss method, in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9. In particular, the impairment on trade
receivables and on contract assets is carried out through the simplified approach, which provides for
estimating the expected loss throughout the life of the receivable at the time of the initial recognition and
in the subsequent valuations. For each customer segment, the estimate is carried out mainly through
the determination of the average expected non-collectability, based on historical-statistical indicators,
which may be adjusted using prospective elements. For some categories of receivables characterized
by peculiar risk elements, instead, specific valuations are carried out on the individual credit positions.
Leases
The recognition and measurements of lease liabilities and the corresponding rights of use can be
influenced by various estimates.
Specifically, the Group estimates the internal debt rate to discount the expected lease payments. The
management also considers all the facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise the renewal options. The renewal options are included in the overall term of the lease contract
only if it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. The assessment of the renewal options
shall be revised only if a significant event occurs that influences said assessment which is under the
control of the lessee.
5. Litigation
With reference to the dispute reported in the 2019 Notes to the financial statements, for the
precautionary appeal (pursuant to art. 700 of the Code of Civil Procedure) filed on 1 February 2019 by
the companies Satispay SpA and Satispay Limited (now Satispay Group SpA, jointly “Satispay”) in which
the counterparty complained of the existence of unfair competition for the app Bill, it should be noted
that said appeal was concluded with an order pronounced by the Court of Milan on January 23, 2020,
with which the Judging Authority rejected the claim and sentenced the counterparty to reimburse our
Institute for legal costs.
No further significant disputes are reported for the year 2020.
6. Business combinations
In 2020
6.1 Final purchase price allocation of the assets acquired and liabilities undertaken relating to
the transfer of the payment service business unit of Banca 5.
On December 13, 2019, the transfer of the payment services business unit of Banca 5 S.p.A. was
finalized.
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Considering that the acquisition was completed close to the end of the year, when preparing the
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2019, the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
was calculated provisionally as permitted by IFRS 3 - Business Combinations, consequently recording
a provisional goodwill amounting to a total Euros 238.5 million.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, and in any event within 12 months of the acquisition date,
the purchase price allocation process was completed, with the subsequent final redefinition of goodwill
resulting from the business combination.
In particular, the purchase price allocation process resulted in recognition of the following assets and
liabilities at the acquisition date:

At December 31, 2019
(in Euro thousands)

Provisional fair value paid on
acquisition

Intangible assets (Goodwill)

238,464

Intangible assets (Retail network)

Other assets – current and non-current
Trade receivables
Deferred tax assets
Total Assets Acquired

Provision for employee severance indemnities
Current and non-current financial payables
Trade payables

215,842
10,700

Intangible assets (Contract network)
Property, plant and equipment

Final fair value paid on
acquisition

23,100
27,303

27,303

12

12

2,923

2,923

17

17

268,720

279,898

1,035

1,035

19

19

3,063

3,063

Deferred tax liabilities

11,178

Other current and non-current liabilities

14,603

14,603

Liabilities acquired

18,720

29,898

Net assets acquired

250,000

250,000

As shown in the table above, the year resulted in the recognition of intangible assets associated with
the distribution of the network of points of sale of the company in the territory (retail network) and the
contractual relationships in place with the same points of sale (contract network) for a total of Euro 33.8
million, net of the related tax effect of Euro 11.2 million.
As a result of the final recalculation of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired, the comparison
data for the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2019 was restated as indicated in the
following summary table.
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At December 31, 2019

(in Euro thousands)

Provisional fair value
paid on acquisition

Purchase Price
Allocation

Final fair value paid on
acquisition

Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

67,178

67,178

76,568

33,800

110,368

546,843

(22,622)

524,221

7,935

7,935

168,148

168,148

866,672

11,178

877,850

(20,041)

(11,178)

(31,219)

(800,074)

-

(800,074)

(260,711)

-

(260,711)

(1,080,826)

(11,178)

(1,092,004)

214,154

-

214,154

214,154

-

214,154

Liabilities and equity
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent
Total equity

Considering the proximity of the date of finalization of the transaction with the date of the financial
statements as at December 31, 2019, the economic effects resulting from the process of allocation of
the final purchase price on the comparative balances are considered irrelevant. Therefore, the Company
has opted to value the economic impacts starting from January 1, 2020.

6.2 Acquisition of controlling interest in Pluservice Srl
In March 2019, the Sisal Group S.p.A purchased 30% of the share capital of myCicero S.r.l. through the
subsidiary Sisal S.p.A. The investment was then contributed to another group company, Mooney Servizi
S.p.A., in December 2019, as part of the company reorganization process which resulted in the
separation of the services business in the group.
As described in Paragraph 2.3 (Scope of consolidation and consolidation criteria), on July 31, 2020 the
acquisition of 51% of the company Pluservice S.r.l. by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. was completed. The
acquired company holds 70% of the shares of myCicero Srl, of which Mooney Servizi SpA already held
the remaining 30%, and therefore, following the above-mentioned acquisition, the Group has also
obtained indirect control of myCicero S.r.l.
The companies develop integrated digital solutions mainly for transport companies and sell mobility
services to consumers on apps and the web. The myCicero platform makes it possible to pay through
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parking lots and blue lines apps, as well as to purchase train tickets and passes, for Local Public
Transport and long-distance Buses.
The transaction is part of the Group’s business diversification and growth strategy, which sees the
Mobility sector as an important area of development and synergies.
A summary table of the amounts regarding the acquisition by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. is shown below:
31 July, 2020

(In Euro thousand)

Pluservice
S.r.l.

myCicero
S.r.l.

Total

Assets
Tangible assets

195

12

207

4,335

10,152

14,487

29

427

456

Investments

6,289

0

6,289

Trade receivables

6,051

2,610

8,661

Other current and not current assets

3,588

2,338

5,926

20,487

15,539

36,026

Provision for employee severance
indemnities

2,510

430

2,940

Trade payables and other payables

2,259

2,806

5,064

Other current and not current liabilities

7,820

6,836

14,656

12,588

10,072

22,661

7,899

5,467

13,366

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Total Assets Acquired
Liabilities

Total Liabilities Acquired
Net assets Acquired
Present value of consideration

17,292

Equity attributable to third parties

5,501

Goodwill

9,427

As shown in the table, based on the application of IFRS 3, the Group has recognized minority interests
at fair value using the full goodwill method for an amount of 5,5 million Euro at the closing date.
The Group has used the option to recognize the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in the
statement of financial position on a provisional basis stating the recognized goodwill amounts to Euro
9,427 million. The purchase price allocation, as permitted by this standard, will be finalized in 2021,
within 12 months from the date of finalization of the operation.
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7. Revenues
Year ended December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

Revenues from payments of paying-in slips and road tax

2019
185,657

8,336

Revenues from distribution, issue and top-ups of prepaid cards

13,213

1,198

Revenues from telephone and media card distribution

27670

1,645

6488

356

Revenues from banking services

17,301

500

Revenues from mobility services

3,753

0

55,152

1,823

309,233

13,858

Revenues from other products

Revenues from points of sale and others
Total

The item Revenues from payments of paying-in slips and road tax refers to the fees for services subject
to supervision by the Bank of Italy.
The item Revenues from distribution, issue and top-up of prepaid cards includes revenues from both
the distribution and top-up of prepaid cards issued by third parties and the issuing and top-up of prepaid
cards issued in the capacity of Electronic Money Institution by Mooney S.p.A.
Revenues from telephone and media card distribution refer to revenues related primarily to the
sale/distribution of telephone top-ups and the sale/distribution of TV card top-ups.
The item Revenue from other products includes income mainly relating to the distribution/sale services
of railway ticketing and codes for online purchases. It also refers to revenues deriving from the myCicero
platform, which makes it possible to pay for parking, blue lines and purchase of transport tickets. These
revenues relate to the period from August 2020, as described in paragraph 6, Business combinations.
The item Revenues from banking services refers to revenues relating to services, also subject to the
supervision of the Bank of Italy, of withdrawal, payment, transfer of money in addition to payments of
tax proxies, typically pertaining to the traditional distribution channels (bank and post office branches),
but with great potential for the proximity channel.
The item Revenues from mobility services includes the revenues deriving from the businesses of the
newly acquired Pluservice Srl and myCicero Srl, consisting in the supply of technological solutions for
public and private transport companies, as well as services to citizens for the digital payment of parking,
blue lines and purchase of transport tickets.
The item Revenues from points of sale and others mainly includes revenues relating to the annual “Point
of Sale” fee due by the Mooney distribution network on the basis of the undertaken contractual
conditions and to a lesser extent other fees for services provided to the points of sale, including service
fees related to EasyCassa installations, a retail technological solution integrated with cash register
functions, electronic invoicing, management and payment acceptance.
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8. Other income

(in Euro thousands)
Other sundry income
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
2,714
2,714

-

During 2020, the regime relating to the VAT Group also became fully operational, which sees the three
Mooney companies in the role of participating companies and Sisal Group S.p.A. in that of consolidating.
The balance of the item in 2020 is mainly attributable to the indemnities under the Group VAT regulation
that exceed the cost for non-deductible VAT in the respective companies, in particular Mooney Servizi
SpA, boast towards the other companies belonging to the VAT Group and whose settlement will take
place after the presentation of the relative settlements for the year 2020.
9. Purchases of materials, consumables and merchandise
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Purchase of rolls of paper
Spare parts purchases
Sundry materials purchases
Purchase of finished products
Change in inventories
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
1,499
408
953
356
(23)
3,192

(2)
(2)

The Purchase of materials such as rolls of papers and spare parts are related to the management of
terminals at the points of sale. The sundry materials relate to purchases of promotional material and
other equipment, the purchase of finished products represents the purchase of hardware and auxiliary
material intended for sale for the business of the Pluservice S.r.l. and myCicero S.r.l.

37

10. Costs for services
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Marketing and commercial expenses
Other commercial initiatives
Other commercial services
Commercial services
Sales channel – Payment services
Maintenance and Technical Support
Logistics
Telecommunications
Consulting
Emoluments on Corporate Offices
Bank Fees and Expenses
Business and Employee Travel
Office management costs
Insurance
Outsourcing services
Other services
Other costs for services
Other Services
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
4,429
663
929
6,020
161,818
6,103
837
639
9,414
668
12,756
656
170
545
11,385
7,301
3,539
215,829
221,849

75
3
195
273
7,909
801
32
11
97
77
828
15
80
296
27
10,174
10,447

The main costs for services are represented by the commissions paid to the payment points, relating to
the services subject to the supervision of the Bank of Italy.
The item Maintenance and Technical Support mainly includes the costs for the maintenance activities
of the technological platforms and payment terminals on the network.
The item Bank Fees and Expenses is mainly represented by the acquiring commissions for cashless
payments at points of sale and online, by the commissions for SEPA Credit Transfert (SCT) and SEPA
Direct Debit (SDD), and by the expenses related to sureties and guarantees given to favor of partner
customers in the context of agreements relating respectively to payment services and the sale and / or
distribution of telephone top-ups.
The item Outsourcing services is mainly related to the costs of the external call center and helpdesk
services, visual merchandising activities on the points of sale, temporary work and operational and
technological support services also provided by the minority shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A., regulated by
specific contracts called temporary service agreements.
The item Other services mainly includes the costs of managing the external collection and payment
platforms, other costs related to employees such as meal vouchers, training and selection costs, audit
costs.
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The item Other costs for services mainly represents the costs of operational, managerial, and
technological support services, regulated by specific contracts called temporary service agreements
with the indirectly controlling company Sisal Group S.p.A and its direct subsidiary Sisal S.p.A.
The fees paid to the audit firm for the audit of the annual financial statements of the Group (including
these consolidated financial statements and some non-recurrent assets) amounted, for the entire year,
to approximately Euro 329 thousand (Euro 238 thousand in 2019) (net of VAT).
It must also be noted that the compensation due to the statutory auditors of the Parent for carrying out
their functions, also in other consolidated companies, amounts to a total of Euro 145 thousand.
11. Lease and rent expenses
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Building leases
Other rentals and operating leases

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
314
135

Total

449

22
11
33

The costs incurred in 2020 in relation to leases with an underlying asset of low value or with a contractual
duration of less than 12 months amounted to Euro 158 thousand.
12. Personnel costs

This item is composed as follows:
(in Euro thousands)
Salaries and wages
Social security contributions
Employee severance indemnities
Other personnel costs
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
15,071
4,821
1,481
1,124
22,497

662
241
53
2
958

The following table shows the number of employees by category for the years under review (the number
of employees represents the situation at December 31, 2020):
Number of employees
Executives
Management staff
White-collar
Blue-collar
Other
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
24
110
415
6
27
582

14
63
305

382
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13. Other operating costs
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Other taxes and duties
Gifts and donations
Sundry operating costs
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
85
103
5,335
5,523

504
600
1,104

Other sundry operating costs are mainly represented by the cost of pro-rata non-deductible VAT accrued
during 2020.
14. Depreciation, amortization, provisions, impairment losses and reversals of the value of
property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Other impairment losses on fixed assets
Impairment losses on current assets
Allocations and releases to provisions for risks and charges
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
22,560
19,122
3,382
130
45,194

758
678
216
50
1,702

The portion of depreciation of property, plant and equipment related to the application of IFRS 16
amounts to Euro 2,032 thousand relating to the depreciation of motor vehicles for Euro 857 thousand,
leases of third-party properties for Euro 1,045 thousand and to the data center for Euro 130 thousand.
15. Finance income and similar
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Finance income on guarantee deposits
Other finance income
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
34
34

-
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16. Finance expenses and similar
This item is composed as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
Interest and other finance expenses - third parties
Interest and finance expenses - Shareholders
Exchange gains/losses realized
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
26,568
26,191
(34)
52,725

962
858
1,820

The item "Interest and other finance expenses – third parties" refers mainly to interest and the fee and
commission component related to a bond issue and a revolving credit facility deriving from the Group’s
financial restructuring carried out in December 2019.
The item "Interest and finance expenses - Shareholders" refers to the financial charges accrued in
relation to the outstanding payables to Sisal Group S.p.A. and Banca 5 S.p.A. by virtue of the Deferred
Purchase Price Agreement signed by the parties in light of the finalization of the Gallo project concerning
the purchase by Mooney Group S.p.A. of the equity investments held in Mooney S.p.A. and in Mooney
Servizi S.p.A. by Sisal Group S.p.A and Banca 5 S.p.A., following the transfers of business units by the
latter to the subsidiaries.
17. Income taxes
Income taxes comprise the following:

(in Euro thousands)
Current taxes
Current income tax relating to prior years
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets related to prior years
Total

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
1,466
(19)
(10,834)
655
( 8,732)

191
2,722
6
2,919
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The reconciliation of the theoretical tax rate is presented in the following table:
Year ended December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

Profit (loss) before income taxes
Nominal tax rate
Theoretical tax using the nominal tax rate
Temporary increases
of which: severance indemnity
Permanent increases

2019
(39,447)

(2,207)

24%/27%/3.9%/5.57%

24%/27.5%

(9,674)

(574)

366

15

290
2,526

of which: Depreciation/Ammortisation

1,472

Temporary decreases

(29)

Permanent decreases

(1,664)

of which: Super Depreciation/Ammortisation

(548)

Tax wedge

(1,107)

Deferred tax liabilities IRES
Other changes IRES:
of which: prepaid taxes not registered on IRES add.

2

(2,497)
1,893

(20)

1,806

Deferred tax liabilities IRAP

(328)

-

Other changes IRAP

(207)

-

IRES tax

(10,554)

571

IRAP tax

1,189

30

634

2,319

(8,732)

2,919

Current and deferred income tax adjustments related to prior
year
Total effective tax expense
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18. Property, plant and equipment
The composition and changes in this item are as follows:
Depreciation,
am ortization
Investm ents
and im pairm ent
losses

Changes in
scope of
consolidation

Opening
balance
(in Euro/000)

Decem ber 31,
2020

Land and buildings
Original cost
Accumulated amortization
Impairment losses
Net value

31
(13)

480

4,110

-

(1,436)

-

-

-

18

480

4,110

19

251

621

(10)

(186)

(1,436)

4,621
(1,449)
3,172

Plant and m achinery:
Original cost
Accumulated amortization

-

Impairment losses

-

-

-

Net value

9

65

621

Original cost

106,118

98

7,759

Accumulated amortization

(40,088)

(82)

(145)
(145)

891
(341)
550

Industrial equipm ent

Impairment losses
Net value

-

-

-

-

66,030

16

7,759

1,685

1,486

2,143

(16,379)
(16,379)

113,975
(56,549)
57,426

Other assets
Original cost
Accumulated amortization
Impairment losses
Net value

(565)

(803)

(1,161)

-

-

-

1,120

683

2,143

(1,161)

5,315
(2,529)
2,785

Property, plant and equipm ent under construction
Original cost

-

-

-

-

-

Accumulated amortization

-

-

-

-

-

Impairment losses

-

-

-

-

-

Net value

-

-

-

-

-

Original cost

107,853

2,316

14,633

-

124,802

Accumulated amortization

(40,676)

(1,071)

Total

Impairment losses

Net value

-

-

-

-

67,178

1,245

14,633

(19,122)
-

(19,122)

(60,869)
-

63,934
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2020
The change in the scope of consolidation refers to the businesses acquired following the contributions
and acquisitions described in the paragraph “Business combinations”.
The rights of use of leased assets recorded under property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2020
amounted to Euro 13,397 thousand, broken down as follows:
- Land and buildings for Euro 2,336 thousand (2019 Euro 18 thousand);
- Plant and machinery for Euro 3,978 thousand referred to the new data center;
- Industrial equipment: leased terminals for Euro 5,399 thousand (2019 Euro 6,943 thousand);
- Other assets for Euro 1,684 thousand (2019 Euro 588 thousand).
With regard to the rights of use of leased assets, depreciation was recorded for an amount of Euro 3,585
thousand.
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19. Goodwill
At December 31, 2020 Goodwill amounted to Euro 534,102 thousand. During the year, it underwent the
following changes due to the extraordinary operations at the end of the year 2019 and in 2020:

(in Euro thousands)
Balance at January 1
Acquisition by Banca 5
Acquisition by Sisal Group
PPA Banca 5 allocation as at 12/31/2019
Acquisition of Pluservice S.r.l.
Balance at December 31

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
524,221
0
238,464
308,379
(22,622)
9,882
0
534,102
524,221

The increase in the year is linked to the goodwill recognized following the acquisition of Pluservice
closed in July,2020 and its subsidiary myCicero S.r.l., a transaction recorded which led to the recognition
of goodwill of Euro 9,882 thousand.
On the other hand, with reference to the value of the goodwill linked to the business combination with
Banca 5, as highlighted in paragraph 6.Business Combination, the Group, as permitted by the applicable
standard, has finalized the purchase price allocation exercise in 2020, with the final recognition of the
goodwill related to this business unit in the amount of Euro 215,842 thousand, compared to the
provisional goodwill of Euro 238,464 thousand.
The executive management has identified the CGUs taking into account the method of generating
cash flows of each Group activity, as well as the method by which management monitors their results.
These criteria have resulted in the identification of two distinct CGUs which substantially coincide with
the main legal operating entities of the Group:
• the Mooney CGU coinciding with Mooney S.p.A;
• the Mooney Servizi CGU coinciding with Mooney Servizi S.p.A and its subsidiaries Pluservice S.r.l.
and MyCicero Srl.
The goodwill reported in the Company's financial statements as at 31 December 2020 (as at 31
December 2019) is divided as follows:

(in Euro thousands)
CGU Mooney
CGU Mooney Servizi
Balance at December 31

Year ended December 31
2020
2019
416,787
416,787
117,315
107,434
534,102
524,221

The value of Goodwill, in line with the requirements of the relevant accounting standards, was subjected
to an impairment test.
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According to the IFRS reference accounting standards, the “recoverable amount” of the CGU to be
considered for the purposes of impairment is equal to the higher of the “fair value less costs of disposal”
and the “value in use”.
The recoverable value of the CGUs for the Mooney and Mooney Servizi was estimated on the basis of
the value in use, defined on the basis of the five-year cash flow projections approved by the top
management, differentiated according to the historical trends of the various products and the expected
evolutions in the various reference markets.
The Group's management, for this purpose, has developed a plan of company results and related cash
flows which provides for important growth objectives over the five-year plan horizon, in line with the
Group's mission of being the first and most accessible of proximity banking & payments.
The projected growths are linked to the development of all sectors and products in which the group
operates. In particular, the plan provides for the growth of PagoPa and Digital Payments services, the
expansion of the distribution network, the development and accreditation of the Mooney Card, launched
during the year, and the activation of new business lines in the mobility sector, due to the know-how
obtained with the strategic acquisition of myCicero S.r.l. and Pluservice S.r.l ..
In consideration of the particular context following the pandemic emergency in progress and as
envisaged and recommended by ESMA, the impairment exercise was carried out by weighing, starting
from the aforementioned reference plan, multiple scenarios, which reflect different assumptions
development, for the determination of the so-called “Value in use” or recoverable value of the
aforementioned invested capital.
The assumptions of the plan that have been analyzed to determine the various scenarios are linked to
the hypotheses of growth and development of the network and the consequent impact on volumes, the
penetration of banking products, the possibility of developing further vertical integrations in the value
chain, as well as the possibility of making investments more efficient.
The growth rate, used to estimate the cash flows beyond the explicit forecast period, is determined in
the light of market data and information available to the Group's management on the reasonable
forecasted growth of the sector in the long term and is equal to 1.5%.
The discount rate used to discount the cash flows is equal to a WACC of 7.7%, resulting from the
weighted average between the cost of capital equal to 8.5% and a cost of debt, after taxes, of the 3.6%.
These assumptions are applied indistinctly to each CGU.
From the aforementioned "impairment test" exercise it emerged that the recoverable value of the CGU,
for the portion of the flows attributable to the Group, is higher than the book value of the invested capital,
including goodwill, attributed to each CGU. It was therefore not necessary to carry out any write-down
of the item in question.
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In particular, the excess of the recoverable value of the Mooney CGU, determined on the basis of the
parameters described above, compared to the relative book value is equal to 416 million euros and for
the GGU Mooney Servizi to 41.4 million euros.
For the Mooney Servizi CGU, the values that the terminal growth rate and WACC should assume,
considered individually and keeping the other assumptions unchanged, to make the recoverable value
of the CGU equal to their book value are respectively -1% and 9, 55%.
In consideration of the consistency of the reported values, the change in the value assigned to the basic
assumptions, in terms of the growth rate hypothesized in determining the terminal value and the discount
rate that makes the recoverable value of the Mooney CGU equal to its book value, is related to
unreasonable parameters.
20. Intangible assets
The composition and changes in this item are as follows:

(in Euro/000)
Industrial patent and intellectual
property rights:
Original cost
Accumulated amortization
Impairment losses

Opening balance

Restatement of PPA
B5

Changes in
scope of
consolidation

Depreciation,
amortization and
impairment
losses

Investments

33,662

-

33,358

(19,310)

-

(19,480)

22,015
-

-

-

Net value
Concessions, licenses,
trademarks and similar rights:

14,352

-

13,877

22,015

Original cost

34,851

-

267

1,294

Accumulated amortization

(6,689)

-

(260)

Impairment losses

-

(16,219)

89,035
(55,009)
34,026
-

-

-

-

28,162

-

6

1,294

Original cost

40,325

33,800

-

-

Accumulated amortization

(6,272)

Net value

(16,219)

December 31,
2020

-

(2,640)
(2,640)

Other intangible assets:

36,412
(9,589)
26,823
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

34,054

33,800

-

-

Original cost

-

-

604

1,688

-

2,292

Accumulated amortization

-

-

-

-

-

-

Impairment losses

-

-

-

-

-

-

Net value

-

-

604

1,688

-

2,292

Original cost

108,838

33,800

34,228

24,998

-

201,864

Accumulated amortization

(32,270)

Impairment losses
Net value
Intangible assets in progress and
advances:

(3,700)

74,125

(3,700)

Net value

64,154
-

Total

Impairment losses

(9,972)

-

(19,741)

-

-

-

-

-

76,568

33,800

14,487

24,998

(22,560)
-

(22,560)

(74,571)
-

127,294
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In 2020:
The change in the scope of consolidation refers to the businesses acquired following the contributions
and acquisitions described in the paragraph “Business combinations”.
The investments made in 2020 refer to internal capitalizations and SW developments relating to the
process of segregation from the Sisal Group systems and to the development activities for the new
services, in particular for the new “Mooney” prepaid card and for integration, in the commercial offer, of
banking products.
In 2019:
The intangible assets mainly derive from the contributions and acquisitions of business segments
described in the paragraph “Business combinations”. The investments made in 2019 refer to internal
capitalizations and SW development relating to December, occurring following the extraordinary
operation.
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21. Investments in associates
The item in question does not show a balance at the end of 2020, following the acquisition of control
and subsequent line-by-line consolidation of the assets and liabilities of the Pluservice group, which
includes the company myCicero S.r.l., in which the Group held a 30% interest at the end of 2019.
22. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
This item can be broken down as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Deferred tax assets

2020

2019
12,062

3,245

Deferred tax liabilities

(30,794)

(31,219)

Net amount

(18,732)

(27,974)

Net changes in this item are as follows:
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
(in Euro thousands)
At December 31, 2019

(27,974)

Charge/release to income statement

1,859

Charge/release to income statement deferred taxes

8,334

Charge/release to statement of comprehensive income
Change in scope of consolidation
At December 31, 2020

(15)
(936)
(18,732)
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Deferred tax assets are summarized in the following table:
At December 31

(in Euro thousands)
Temporary
differences
(Amount)
IRES tax losses from previous years

2019

2020
Temporary
differences
(Amount)

Tax effect

45,904

11,309

Tax effect

11,047

3,038

Aid to Economic Growth (ACE) benefit

221

61

Allocation to provision for risks and charges

308

83

20

5

141

39

70

19

Compensation to directors
Maintenance excess
Other temporary differences

2,582

752

Provisions for credit losses

543

130

Provisions for risks and write-downs

403

108

1582

432

54

83

70

19

Total deferred tax assets

48,486

12,062

11,806

3,245

Tax losses for which deferred tax assets have not been
recorded

53,558

2,360

2,022
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Discounting of severance indemnity fund
Other temporary tax recoveries

The Group expects to have sufficient taxable income in the future to recover deferred tax assets.
Tax losses excluded from deferred tax asset computation refer to the IRES tax losses recorded by the
Mooney Group, though they can be unlimitedly carried forward pursuant to art. 84, paragraph 2 of the
Consolidated Income Tax Act.

Deferred tax liabilities are summarized in the following table:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

Temporary
differences
(Amount)

Total deferred tax liabilities
Other temporary differences
Total deferred tax liabilities

2019

2020

Tax effect

89,971

29,557

4,393

1,237

94,364

30,794

Temporary
differences
(Amount)

Tax effect

94,669

31,219

0

0

94,669

31,219
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23. Other non-current assets
This item amounted to a total of approximately Euro 2,344 thousand (Euro 1,381 thousand at December
31, 2019) and mainly comprised guarantee deposits provided for issuing activities of prepaid cards by
the company Mooney S.p.A.
24. Inventories
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Rolls of paper for terminals
Spare parts (repairs)
Spare parts (consumables)
Materials and consumables
Semi-finished products
Top-up and scratch cards
Virtual top-ups and parking tickets
HW and auxiliary warehouse
Finished products and merchandise
Total

2020

2019
210
167
455
832
120
2,566
404
2,971
3,923

152
55
211
418
5,039
5,039
5,457

Inventories are shown net of the provision for inventory obsolescence. Changes in the provision are as
follows:

(in Euro thousands)
December 31, 2019
Net provisions
Usage
December 31, 2020

Provision for inventory obsolescence
131
30
161

25. Trade receivables
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Receivables from points of sale
Trade receivables from third parties
Other trade receivables from third parties
Doubtful receivables
Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Trade receivables from Sisal Group S.p.A.
Trade receivables from Sisal Group companies
Trade receivables from Banca 5
Total

2020

2019
12,870
9,688
173
4,840
(5,156)
48,067
91
6,037
76,610

13,244
1,541
277
1,100
(216)
55,854
886
72,686
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The item “Receivables from points of sale” mainly represent amounts due to the Group for payment
services provided in the last few days of December, paid on the network through cashless methods, still
to be collected.
The item "Trade receivables from third parties" mainly refers to amounts due to the Group for fees
deriving from partners for distribution and ticketing services.
The item "Doubtful receivables" represents unpaid outstanding amounts generated by receivables that
were subject to collection, due mainly from points of sale, on which recovery procedures and possibly
legal warnings were initiated, excluding amounts due on situations that can be resolved in the short
term.
The item "Trade receivables from Sisal Group S.p.A." mainly relates to receivables from the sales cycle,
due from the Parent company, relating to the turnover of the latter collected from the points of sales on
behalf of the Group companies.
The item "Trade receivables due Banca 5" mainly refers to receivables from the sales cycle due from
Banca 5 relating to the collection of the products transferred and not transferred that the latter carried
out at the sale points of the former Banca 5 semi-network and the fees relating to the current accounts
that are partly retroceded to Mooney S.p.A.
Trade receivables denominated in foreign currency and the breakdown by geographical area are not
significant as all receivables are substantially due from domestic operators.
The changes in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follow:
At December 31

(in Euro thousands)
December 31, 2019
Net provisions
Usage
Change in scope of consolidation
December 31, 2020

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
from network
(216)

(4,462)
(478)
(5,156)

The increase recorded in 2020 reflects a natural trend in insolvency (particularly with reference to the
outlet points of sale) and refers to the total for the year compared to 2019 when defaults were only
related to the days after the contribution in December.
26. Current financial assets
There is no balance for this item in either 2020 or 2019.
27. Taxes receivable
This item is composed as follows:
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At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Receivables for IRES tax from tax authorities
Receivables for IRAP tax from tax authorities
Total

2020

2019
12
157
157

12

Receivables from tax authorities for IRES are attributable to the company Pluservice net of the advances
already paid.
28. Restricted bank deposits
Restricted bank deposits mainly include the balances of restricted cash deposits deriving from funds
received from customers in compliance with the directive known as PSD2, as part of the services
provided by Mooney S.p.A. as IMEL.
These deposits are managed by the Group but their use is restricted to the liquidation of payables to
service partners, holders of prepaid cards and payment accounts.
Restricted bank deposits at December 31, 2020 amounted to Euro 61,142 thousand (Euro 17,192
thousand at December 31, 2019). It should be noted that the value of the above-mentioned bank
deposits referring to related parties is Euro 16,055 thousand.
29. Cash and cash equivalents
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Bank and postal accounts
Cash and cash equivalents in hand
Total

2020

2019
69,101
2
69,103

69,549
69,549

It should be noted that the value of the bank deposits referring to related parties is Euro 29,172 thousand.
30. Other current assets
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Other receivables from employees
Other receivables from tax authorities
Prepaid expenses
Other receivables from third parties
Provision for impairment of other receivables
Sundry receivables from Sisal Group S.p.A.
Sundry receivables from Sisal Group companies
Other receivables from Banca 5
Total

2020

2019
56
293
2,796
8,899
(4,992)
237
3,028
1,353
11,670

85
171
1,995
5,201
(4,992)
24
624
3,107
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The item "Other receivables from the Tax Authorities" is mainly composed of VAT receivables of Euro
76 thousand and tax credits deriving mainly from the company Pluservice S.r.l.
Prepaid expenses mainly represent the prepaid portion of expenses not relating to the current year
incurred for the issue of bank guarantees, rent, health insurance premiums and purchase of supplies.
Sundry receivables from third parties, amounting to Euro 8,899 thousand, mainly include receivables
from companies of the Qui! Group, declared bankrupt, of the company Mooney S.p.A for approximately
Euro 5 million, entirely covered by the bad debt provision.
Sundry receivables from Sisal Group companies, amounting to Euro 3,028 thousand, refer mainly to the
reimbursement of VAT benefits as set forth in the Group contract.
Sundry receivables from Banca 5, amounting to Euro 1,353 thousand, mainly include receivables for
commissions deriving from services provided on the former Banca 5 semi-network.
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31. Equity
The breakdown of equity at December 31, 2020 is shown below:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

Equity

2019
(244,646)

Shareholders' equity attributable to non-controlling interests

(214,154)

5,286

Total

(239,360)

(214,154)

The share capital of the Company at December 31, 2019, fully subscribed and paid-in, is composed of
50,000,000 ordinary shares, and is 70% owned by Sisal Group S.p.A. and 30% owned by Banca 5
S.p.A., a company of the Intesa Group.
The changes in the single items are summarized in the statement of changes in consolidated equity.
The negative value of equity reflects the recording, according to the reference accounting standards, of
the business combinations that were implemented to create the Group at the end of the year 2019.
32. Long-term debt
Long-term debt of the Group at December 31, 2020 and 2019, shown net of transaction charges in
accordance with IFRS, is presented as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

2019

Long-term debt

890,137

799,627

Lease liabilities

12,132

5,988

902,269

805,615

68,338

8,572

833,930

797,043

Total
of which current
of which non-current

Long-term debt
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Super Senior Revolving Facility

2020

2019
59,323

2,427

Senior Secured Notes - Mooney Group

511,749

509,208

Total

571,073

511,635

6,037

1,135

Total Funding from third parties

577,110

512,770

Funding from shareholders

313,027

286,857

Total

890,137

799,627

Loans and mortgages from other banks
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Existing debt at December 31, 2020, including the current portion, totaled around Euro 890.1 million.
Fixed-rate loans of approximately Euro 313.0 million were mainly attributable to the “Deferred Purchase
Price Agreement” obtained after entering into the partnership with Banca 5 S.p.A. for around Euro 203.6
million and with Sisal Group S.p.A. for approximately Euro 109.5 million.
Floating-rate debt amounted to around Euro 577 million, of which approximately Euro 511.7 million
related mainly to the Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes of Mooney Group S.p.A. and Euro 3.1 million
in bank debt or similar.
A description follows of the most significant outstanding debt.
Bond issues and revolving credit facilities
At the end of 2020, the Mooney Group had one floating-rate outstanding bond issue for Euro 530 million
(Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes).
The Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes, recorded in the Financial Statements for Euro 511.7 million
as the residual balance at December 31, 2020, including the fee related to transaction charges, were
subscribed during the year by Mooney Group S.p.A. They offer quarterly coupon payments of interest
(due every March 17, June 17, September 17 and December 17) and repayment of the principal in a
lump sum on December 17, 2026.
The floating-rate interest is calculated on the 3-month Euribor rate plus 3,875% spread.

During 2019, as part of the company reorganization that led to the issue of the bond described above,
Mooney Group S.p.A. obtained a credit facility from a pool of banks for a total of Euro 92.5 million
maturing in 2026 and with interest calculated on the Euribor rate when due, plus a 3% spread subject
to decrease in the margin of up to 2% as certain financial ratio levels are achieved.
At the end of the year, the available credit line was used to cover its working capital for a total of Euro
61.5 million, in addition to approximately Euro 1.5 million used to issue guarantees in favor of the
Mastercard group.
Details of the credit facilities which form the above loans are as follows:
Residual Debt at December 31

(in Euro thousands)
SSFRN bond (floating rate)
Senior Secured Revolving Credit Facility

Total gross of transaction charges
Accrued interest on SSFRN bond
Transaction charges connected to loans
Total

Company
SisalPay Group
S.p.A.
SisalPay Group
S.p.A.

Type
Bullet
Revolving
facility

2020

Due

Repayments

530,000

Dec-17-26

when due

61,500

2026

when due

591,500
799
(21,226)

571,073
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The loan agreements in place do not envisage compliance with maintenance covenants, but in any
event require compliance with several financial covenants on the revolving credit facility such as the
guarantor coverage test and quarterly calculation of the leverage ratio, which also determines the
applicable margin on the facility. Furthermore, in reference to the loan agreements, the Group is in any
event required to satisfy a series of restrictions which, among other things, place limits on: i) entering
into merger, spin-off, corporate restructuring and joint venture transactions, ii) carrying out acquisitions
or investments, iii) carrying out acts disposing of all or part of its assets and iv) increasing financial debt.
Exceptions to these restrictions are permitted, on authorization from the lending banks and by the
noteholders.
The Group has also arranged pledges in favor of the lenders on shares in Mooney Group S.p.A, Mooney
Servizi S.p.A. and Mooney S.p.A.
The Company has the right to full or partial early repayment of the notes issued, as established in the
contract governing their issue. The main terms applicable in the event of early repayment are described
below.
In the event of full or partial early repayment: i) between December 17, 2020 and December 17, 2021,
The Company has to pay an amount equal to 101% of the amount repaid in addition to any interest
accrued and not paid; and ii) subsequent to December 17, 2021, any early repayments only require
payment of the nominal value of the amount repaid and any interest accrued and not paid.
These options are considered strictly linked to the debt instrument to which they refer, and in this sense
are not segregated from the primary contract.
Loans and mortgages from other banks
The item shows a balance of Euro 6,037 thousand and is composed of the loan to the company Mooney
S.p.A. for Euro 132 thousand with a fixed rate of 2,25%, the loans to Pluservice for Euro 2,603 thousand,
the loans to myCicero for Euro 1,508 thousand, falling due in February 2022, and financing on advances
on invoices for Euro 900 thousand falling due on June 30, 2021 and for a total of current account
overdrafts of Euro 894 thousand.
Funding from shareholders
The item refers to the “Deferred Purchase Price Agreement” debt instrument, subscribed after entering
into the partnership concerning the payment services business for a total of Euro 203.6 million due to
the minority shareholder Banca 5 S.p.A. and Euro 109.5 million due to the majority shareholder Sisal
Group S.p.A. The loan accrues annual interest at a rate of 9%, and in the year 2020, interest accrued
equal to EUR 9.1 million for the financial debt to Sisal Group S.p.A and EUR 17.0 million to Banca 5
S.p.A.The debt is deferred and the capital value (including interest accrued) will be repaid no earlier
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than 6 months after the complete repayment of the Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes by Mooney
Group S.p.A.
Lease liabilities
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

2019

Short-term lease liabilities

4,108

1,769

Long-term lease liabilities

8,023

4,219

12,132

5,988

Total
(*) of which financial payable for operating leases to related parties

867

Lease liabilities represent the short and medium-/long-term obligations to make the payments set out in
contracts that include a lease, based on the definition introduced by the accounting standard IFRS 16.
They mainly refer to properties, terminals and vehicles.
Lease liabilities are recognized on the basis of an average duration of years for vehicle leases equal to
two to three years, for real estate leases equal to three to five years, for the data center for five years
and terminals for four years. and also include revaluations of values subject to indices such as ISTAT.
Lease liabilities are recognized at an amount equal to the present value of lease payments not yet made
at the commencement date, calculated adopting a discount rate equal to the interest rate implicit in the
lease or, where this cannot be easily determined, using the incremental borrowing rate of the Group.
An analysis of the due dates of the lease payments is shown below, with a breakdown of the lease
payments not discounted on an annual basis for the first five years and the total amounts for the
remaining years:
31-Dec-20
€/000

Minimum future payments for leased assets

(Effect of discounting)

Lease liabilities

Within 1 year

4,353

Between 1 and 2 years

3,393

Between 2 and 3 years

2,546

Between 3 and 4 years

1,151

Between 4 and 5 years

1,053

After 5 years

300
(664)

12,132
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The increase in this item compared to the end of 2019 is mainly due to the activation and transfer of
new operating leases relating to the new data center, real estate, offices and vehicles.
33. Net financial debt
The net financial debt of the Group at December 31, 2020 and 2019, is presented as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
A

Cash

B

Other liquid assets

C

Securities held for trading

D

Liquidity (A+B+C)

E

Current financial receivables

F

Current financial payables

G

2020

2019
2

-

69,101

69,549

-

-

69,103

69,549

0

-

59,323

2,426

Current portion of medium-/long-term debt

7,220

2,879

H

Other current financial payables

1,795

692

I

Current financial debt (F+G+H)

68,338

5,997

J

Net current financial debt (I-E-D)

( 765)

(63,552)

K

Medium/long-term debt

314,956

286,990

L

Notes issued

510,951

508,409

M

Other non-current financial payables

8,023

4,219

N

Non-current financial debt (K+L+M)

833,930

799,618

O

Net financial debt (J+N)

833,166

736,066

34. Provision for employee severance indemnities
Employment Severance Indemnity, at the end of 2020, amounting to Euro 5,969 thousand, of which
Euro 3,085 thousand refer to the acquisition of Pluservice S.r.l. at the end of July 2020, to the actuarial
value of the funds transferred in accordance with the IAS 19 accounting standard. The changes during
the year are shown below:
Year
(in Euro thousands)
Beginning balance
Current costs
Finance expenses
Actuarial (gains) losses
Contributions made - Benefits paid

2020

2019
2,736

0

421
22
(81)
(264)

Change in scope of consolidation

3,135

December 31

5,969

2,736

There are no plan assets servicing the defined benefit plans.
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35. Provisions for risks and charges
The changes in this item are as follows:

(in Euro thousands)

Losses on
investments
provisions

Provisions for risks
and other charges

31-Dec-18
Net provisions
Usage
Change in scope of consolidation
31-Dec-19
Net provisions
Usage
Reclassification
Change in scope of consolidation
31-Dec-20

Total

0

0

0

50
244
294
130
(65)
359

0
0

50
0
244
294
130
(65)
359

As of the date of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, and at this time, although in a
context of uncertainty, it is believed that such pending cases and proceedings will not give rise to
liabilities besides those already recorded in the consolidated financial statements or have significant
consequences.
36. Other non-current liabilities
The item in question, which as at December 31, 2020 had a value of Euro 900 thousand, refers to the
portion of long-term debt concerning the acquisition of Pluservice Srl.
37. Trade payables and other payables
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Payables to suppliers
Payables to partners for services
Payables to points of sale
Other trade payables
Payables to Sisal Group companies
Payables to Banca 5
Payables to other related parties
Total

2020

2019
28,380
172,985
2,591
2,262
2,875
644
209,738

13,676
168,555
407
1,158
183,796

The item "Payables to suppliers" mainly refers to technological, commercial and operational supplies
activated by the Group in the last few months of the year, and the increase compared to the balance of
the previous year reflects, on the one hand, the expansion of the operating activities and investments
and, on the other hand, the manner in which these items were transferred at the end of 2019 as part of
the respective contribution of business units by the Sisal Group and by Banca 5 S.p.A., limiting them
only to payables not yet settled with the issue of the invoice by the suppliers.
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The item "Payables to partners for services" relates mainly to the sale of top-ups of telephone and TV
content cards and collection and payment services operated directly by Mooney Servizi S.p.A. and
Mooney S.p.A., respectively, on behalf of private and public entities.
The item "Payables to Sisal Group companies" mainly includes the retrocession of doubtful receivables
to Sisal Group S.p.A. for collection services managed for the single Group companies.
The item "Payables to Banca 5" mainly includes payables to operational and technological support
services governed by contracts called temporary service agreements and services provided for the new
38. Taxes payable
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

2019

Payables for IRAP tax

1,344

30

Payables for IRES tax

6

161

1,350

195

Payables for virtual stamp duty

4

Total

At December 31, 2020 the Group recorded a net payable of Euro 1,350 thousand.
39. Other current liabilities
This item is composed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Payables to employees
Payables for payment accounts
Payables to holders of prepaid cards
Cash payable myCicero
Payables to social security agencies
Other taxes payable
Other payables to Sisal Group
Other payables to Banca 5
Other payables to related parties
Other payables for services
Deferred income and accrued expenses
Other payables for pro-rata VAT on invoices to be received
Other current liabilities
Total

2020

2019
3,458
7,348
15,588
2,597
2,385
1,753
989
470
4,165
4,919
2,426
4,079
50,177

1,636
2,415
2,803
556
83
43,763
14,441

612
1,212
628
68,148

The main items forming other current liabilities are analyzed below.
Payables to employees
Payables to employees include the 14th month bonus, other bonuses, vacations, former holidays,
outstanding leave, remuneration and overtime accrued but not yet paid at year end.
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Payables for payment accounts
This item includes the payables due to customers for deposits on payment accounts opened to manage
the Bill digital payment services and for services provided by Mooney S.p.A. in the role of payment
facilitator.
Payables to holders of prepaid cards
This item includes the payables due to customers for deposits and purchases in relation to the e-money
issued by IMEL Mooney S.p.A.
Cash payable myCicero
The item includes payables for deposits of users of the myCicero App to use payment services for
parking, blue stripes, and transport tickets.
Other payables to Banca 5
In 2019, the item included the adjustment relating to the contribution of the services business by Banca
5 S.p.A. for an amount of approximately Euro 14.1 million, other sundry payables for payment of the
employees contributed by Banca 5 for the end of December following the contribution. These amounts
were settled in 2020.
Other payables to Sisal Group
In 2019, this item mainly comprised the adjustment relating to the contribution of the services business
for Euro 39.8 million due to the Parent Sisal Group S.p.A., Euro 2.8 to Sisal S.p.A. and Euro 0.2 million
to SisalPoint S.p.A. These amounts were settled in 2020.
Other taxes payable
The item "Other taxes payable" is detailed as follows:
At December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Payables for IRPEF payroll tax
Payables for equalization tax
Sundry taxes payable
Total

2020

2019
1,008
3
742
1,753

50
2
32
84

Other current liabilities
The item principally includes payables for guarantee deposits received from the network and for nondeductible VAT on invoices to be received.
40. Commitments
The commitments of the Group at the reporting dates are detailed as follows:
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At December 31
(in Euro thousands)

2020

Payment and top-up services
Others
Total

2019
143,500

146,500

2,597
146,097

146,500

Payment and top-up services refer to the guarantees issued at the time Sisal Group S.p.A. and Sisal
S.p.A., within the scope of the contribution, on behalf of partner customers mainly for agreements
relating, respectively, to payment services and to the sale and/or distribution of telephone phone topups for which the above companies are required to guarantee payment, net of their fees, of the amounts
collected under the terms of the agreements. It is also noted that the related procedures of transfer
registration are still under way at some issuing banks for those guarantees.
41. Related party transactions
The Group’s related party transactions are both financial and non-financial in nature. The Company
holds that all such transactions are substantially settled on an arm’s length basis.
With regard to relations with the parent company Sisal Group S.p.A. and its direct subsidiary Sisal S.p.A.,
there are operational, managerial and technological support services, governed by specific contracts
called temporary service agreements. In addition, collection services were provided by the parent
company for the benefit of the Group's operating companies.
In addition, during 2020 the relationship relating to the VAT Group regime also had been applied for the
full year, which sees the three Mooney companies in the role of investee companies and Sisal Group
S.p.A. in that of consolidating.
Relations with the minority shareholder of the Parent Company Banca 5 S.p.A. which still exercises a
significant influence on the Group and with the parent company of Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A. itself, are of
a commercial, operational, and financial nature, as highlighted below.
The balances referring to related party transactions in the statement of financial position at December
31, 2020 and 2019 are detailed in the following table:
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In 2020

(in Euro thousands)

Sisal Group
S.p.A.

Sisal Group
Com panies

Banca Intesa
Sanpaolo

Banca 5

Senior
Managem ent

Other related
parties

TOTAL ITEM IN
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

TOTAL

PERCENTAGE OF
TOTAL ITEM

Trade receivables
At December 31, 2020

48,067

91

6,037

-

0

0

54,195

76,610

70.74%

237

3,028

1,353

-

0

0

4,618

11,670

39.57%

Other current assets
At December 31, 2020
Restricted bank deposits
At December 31, 2020

-

-

653

15,402

0

0

16,055

61,142

26.26%

-

-

10,011

19,161

0

0

29,172

69,103

42.22%

-

203,577

800

0

0

313,827

833,930

37.63%

210

434

5,782

209,738

2.76%

1,164

1,164

61,118

1.90%

1,641

2,508

7,220

34.74%

1,459

50,177

2.91%

Cash and cash equivalents
At December 31, 2020
Long-term debt
At December 31, 2020

109,450

Trade payables and other payables
At December 31, 2020

753

1,510

2,875

-

Short-term debt
At December 31, 2020
Current portion of long-term debt
At December 31, 2020

867

Other current liabilities
At December 31, 2020

412

577

-

-

470

0

In 2019
(in Euro thousands)

Sisal Group
S.p.A.

Sisal Group
Com panies

Banca Intesa
Sanpaolo

Banca 5

Senior
Managem ent

Other related
parties

TOTAL ITEM IN
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

TOTAL

PERCENTAGE OF
TOTAL ITEM

Trade receivables
At December 31, 2019

55,838

15

23

886

-

0

0

56,739

72,686

78.06%

624

-

-

0

0

647

3,107

20.82%

-

-

-

445

0

0

445

17,192

2.59%

-

-

4,661

14,180

0

0

18,841

69,549

27.09%

100,300

-

186,558

-

0

0

286,858

797,044

35.99%

1,159

-

-

-

0

0

1,159

183,796

0.63%

40,188

3,574

14,441

-

20

0

58,223

68,148

85.44%

Other current assets
At December 31, 2019
Restricted bank deposits
At December 31, 2019
Cash and cash equivalents
At December 31, 2019
Long-term debt
At December 31, 2019
Trade payables and other payables
At December 31, 2019
Other current liabilities
At December 31, 2019

The effects of related party transactions on the income statement for the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019 are detailed in the following table.
In 2020

(in Euro thousands)

Sisal Group
S.p.A.

Sisal Group
Com panies

Banca 5

Banca Intesa
Sanpaolo

Senior
Managem ent

Other related
parties

TOTAL

TOTAL ITEM IN
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

PERCENTAGE OF
TOTAL ITEM

Revenues
Year ended December 31, 2020

793

91

38,238

455

3,130

6,082

-

-

-

39,122

309,233

12.65%

420

554

10,678

221,849

4.81%

2,038

22,497

9.06%

26,200

52,725

49.69%

Costs for services
Year ended December 31, 2020

37

Staff costs
Year ended December 31, 2020

2,038

Finance expenses and sim ilar
Year ended December 31, 2020

9,150

22

17,028

-
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In 2019
(in Euro thousands)

Sisal Group
S.p.A.

Sisal Group
Com panies

Banca Intesa
Sanpaolo

Banca 5

Senior
Managem ent

Other related
parties

TOTAL ITEM IN
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

TOTAL

PERCENTAGE OF
TOTAL ITEM

Revenues
At December 31, 2019

3,027

-

3,027

13,858

21.84%

32

212

10,447

2.03%

71

71

958

7.41%

0

858

1,819

47.17%

Costs for services
At December 31, 2019

28

152

Staff costs
At December 31, 2019
Finance expenses and sim ilar
At December 31, 2019

300

558

Among related parties, we note the existing relationships with Banca 5 S.p.A., a company that exercises
significant influence on the Parent, and with its direct parent company Intesa Sanpaolo S.p.A..
Senior Management
The following Group officers are considered key leaders: i) the Chief Executive Officer of the Board of
Directors; ii) the Chief Financial Officer; iii) the executives heading the Payments & Services &
Operations, Commercial & Banking Services, and Sales Business Units; and iv) the HR executive and
executives with strategic responsibilities for the company Pluservice S.r.l..
Compensation to the key executives of the Group is as follows:
Year ended December 31
(in Euro thousands)
Salaries and wages
Employee severance indemnities
Total

2020

2019
1909

66

129

5

2,038

71

Executives who are also Company directors, with related powers and responsibilities, are entitled to
directors’ compensation determined by the shareholders at the annual general meeting.
42. Law 124/2017
Paragraph 125 of Law 124/2017 of August 4, 2017 introduced, starting from the 2018 financial year, the
obligation for companies that receive grants, contributions, paid positions and in any case economic
advantages of any kind from the public administrations and from the subjects referred to in the first
period 33 of the same paragraph, to publish these amounts in the notes to the financial statements.
In line with the interpretations provided by the main trade associations, including ASSONIME, the Group
with specific reference only to the company Pluservice S.r.l., certifies that in the course of the financial
year 2020 the amount of Euro 7.3 thousand was paid in favor of the company relating to contributions
for the stabilization of the personal.
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43. Significant events occurring after the end of the year
The first months of 2021 were still characterized by the Covid-19 health emergency, with consequent
impacts on the Group's business as a result of the restrictive measures that the government authorities
had to adopt and which led in particular to a reduction in the business hours worked and in some cases
to the partial blockage of the physical distribution network, through which the Group operates and that
is represented by the Bar channel.
Therefore, despite an ongoing complex context, the results achieved by Mooney in the first few months
of the new year were generally positive in almost all the main business segments, but especially in those
linked to new banking products and prepaid cards, with the very positive launch of the new Mooney
Card, which recorded significant growth rates compared to the same performances of the previous year.
In the first few months of 2021, the process of segregation from the operating and technological
structures, in particular from the Sisal Group, was further accelerated, with the achievement of some
important objectives, such as the segregation of the main management systems (including SAP, the
CRM system, etc.) and some related relevant operating procedures, such as those relating to mass
collections through SDDs of deposits from the physical network.
There have been no further significant developments in the main business and corporate relationships
in addition to what has already been mentioned.

Milan, April 21, 2021
***
On behalf of the Board of Directors
The Chairman

Prof. Paolo Fumagalli
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